Public Document Pack

Agenda Reports & Other Papers
Presented to the
Meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board
on
Tuesday, 8 October 2019

1.

Agenda

1 - 118

Agenda

AGENDA for a meeting of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD at
the COUNCIL CHAMBER, County Hall, Hertford on TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER
2019 at 10:00AM
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD (21) - QUORUM 10
County Councillors (3)
T C Heritage, T R Hutchings, R M Roberts (Chairman)
Non County Councillor Members (18)
P Moodley, N Small, B Flowers, K Magson, Vacancy, Vacancy, Vacancy, NHS
Providers & NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups,
J Coles, Director of Children’s Services,
I MacBeath, Director of Adult Care Services,
J McManus, Director of Public Health,
S Palmer, Healthwatch Hertfordshire,
M Stears-Handscomb, T Kingsbury, District Council Representatives,
N Carver, NHS Provider Representative,
D Lloyd, Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner
Vacancy, Hertfordshire Chief Executives Coordinating Group
Vacancy, Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability & Transformation Partnership
Vacancy, Voluntary Sector
Observer
T Cahill, NHS Provider Representative.
AGENDA
Meetings of the Board are open to the public (this includes the press) and attendance
is welcomed. However, there may be occasions when the public are excluded from
the meeting for particular items of business. Any such items are taken at the end of
the public part of the meeting and are listed under “Part II (‘closed’) agenda”.
At a meeting of the Board any member of the public who is a Hertfordshire
resident or a registered local government elector of Hertfordshire may put a

Agenda Pack Page 1

1

question to the Board about any matter over which the Board has power or which
directly affects the health and wellbeing of the population. Written notice, including
the text of the proposed question, must be given to the County Council’s Chief
Legal Officer at least 5 clear days before the meeting.
Members are reminded that all equalities implications and equalities
impact assessments undertaken in relation to any matter on this agenda
must be rigorously considered prior to any decision being reached on that
matter.
Members are reminded that:
(1)
if they consider that they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any
matter to be considered at the meeting they must declare that interest and
must not participate in or vote on that matter unless a dispensation has
been granted by the Standards Committee;
(2)
if they consider that they have a Declarable Interest (as defined in
paragraph 5.3 of the Code of Conduct for Members) in any matter to be
considered at the meeting they must declare the existence and nature of that
interest. If a member has a Declarable Interest they should consider whether
they should participate in consideration and vote on the matter.
CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS
PART I (PUBLIC) AGENDA
1.

MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board on 20 June 2019.

2.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
None received

3.

UPDATE FROM THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX
SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP (STP)
(HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE) (report attached)
Report of the STP Co-Lead

4.

HERTFORDSHIRE’S BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2019/20 (report
attached)
Report of Director of Adult Care Services

5.

HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (HSAB) ANNUAL
REPORT 2018/19 (report attached)
Report of Director of Adult Care Services
2

Agenda Pack Page 2

6.

ANNUAL HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN REPORT
(verbal update)
Report of Director of Adult Care Services

7.

TACKLING LONELINESS IN HERTFORDSHIRE ACTION PLAN
(report attached)
Report of Director of Adult Care Services

8.

OTHER URGENT BUSINESS
Such other Part I (public) business which the Chairman agrees is of
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

PART II ('CLOSED') AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
There are no items of Part II (‘closed’) business on this agenda. If items are
notified the Chairman will move:
“That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph … of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”
If you require further information about this agenda please contact Elaine Manzi,
Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services, on 01992 588062, or email
elaine.manzi@hertfordshire.gov.uk. Agenda documents are also available on the
internet at https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx
QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

3

Agenda Pack Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Minutes

To: All Members of the Health &
Wellbeing Board

From:
Legal, Democratic & Statutory Services
Ask for: Elaine Manzi
Ext:
28062

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
THURSDAY 20 JUNE 2019
MINUTES
ATTENDANCE
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
J Coles, Director of Children’s Services
B Flowers, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
T Heritage, County Councillor
T Hutchings, County Councillor
D Lloyd, Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner
I MacBeath, Director of Adult Care Services
K Magson, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
P Moodley, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
R Roberts, County Councillor (Chairman)
N Small, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
PART I (‘OPEN’) BUSINESS
Admin note: At the discretion of the Chairman, there was a variation
to the order of the agenda items discussed. This is reflected within
these minutes. Due to an unavoidable delay in the arrival of the
Chairman, the Vice Chairman chaired the debate for the first two
agenda items discussed.
1.

MINUTES

1.1

The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting held on
7 March 2019 were confirmed as a correct record of the meeting and
signed by the Chairman.

9.

TACKLING LONELINESS IN HERTFORDSHIRE ACTION PLAN

ACTION

Officer contact: Chantal Lommel- HAFLS Head of Service (Tel: 01992
588719)
9.1

The Board considered a report
summarising
thePage
progress
Agenda
Pack
5 made to

1

date in developing a strategic Hertfordshire response to tackling
loneliness in Hertfordshire.
9.2

The Board received a presentation providing further detail on the
update outlined within the report. This can be found here:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=15
3&MId=1242&Ver=4

9.3

Members noted that Tackling Loneliness had been identified as a
priority area by the Health & Wellbeing Board.

9.4

The Board welcomed the roll out of pilot schemes across the county,
but in considering the report and presentation, expressed some
concern that there had been similar initiatives in the past, and
acknowledged the challenge in ensuring that the strategies outlined
were sustainable and were driven forward.

9.5

Assurance was received that a toolkit had been developed to mitigate
the risk of lack of sustainability.

9.6

Officers agreed to consider approaching religious groups, district
councils and further and higher education establishments, to identify
and broaden the range of people who could be offered access to
services.

Chantal
Lommel

9.7

The Board were pleased to learn that initiatives had already been
discussed with Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service and it was agreed
that further approaches should be made to Hertfordshire
Constabulary to explore opportunities to implement initiatives through
their service.

Chantal
Lommel

9.8

The importance of health providers input was discussed and
acknowledged, and further to a question from P Moodley, it was
agreed that he would provide details to officers of the Loneliness
Clinic initiative by GP’s at his practice.

Prag
Moodley

9.9

It was concluded that it was clear that good progress was being made
and it was important to continue building on the progress. The
strategic action plan will be brought back to the Health and Wellbeing
Board at its October meeting for approval.

9.10

CONCLUSION
The Board:
 Noted the progress in the development of a Hertfordshire
Strategic Action Plan
 Commented on the four key areas of action
 Considered the role the Health and Wellbeing Board and its
constituent organisations can play in the further development
2

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 6

and delivery of the action plan
2.
2.1

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
The following public question had been received from Cllr Ron Tindall
and was presented at the meeting by the Chairman:

2.2

‘Would the Board agree that to improve democratic representation on
the Board, the opportunity under paragraph 4.7 of the Constitution
should be taken to invite the Leader of the Opposition to nominate a
member of the Shadow Cabinet to join the Board as an Observer?’

2.3

The Chairman provided the following response:
‘I’m conscious that Opposition members have existing routes through
the Council’s committee structure by which to hold local services and
decisions to account, including the work of the Health and Wellbeing
Board. This includes Opposition Members’ involvement in the Adult
Care and Health Cabinet Panel, the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and the Health Scrutiny Committee.
At this time, I do not intend to recommend that Members of the
Opposition be invited to join the Board.
However, I will keep this matter under review.’

2.4

Cllr Tindall asked a supplementary question, which is summarised as
follows:
‘I recognise that Hertfordshire has one of the best performing Health
& Wellbeing Boards in the country. In the proposed review of
membership of the board, which is to be discussed later in the
agenda, representatives from the voluntary sector are now being
considered as prospective members. Whilst this is welcomed, the
original concept of the Board was to only have members who had a
financial stake in health and social care provision. As this is now
changing to include recipients, I ask again for the Board to consider a
broader representation from Members of the Council.’

2.5

The Chairman acknowledged Cllr Tindall’s supplementary question,
but reiterated his initial response, which was that he did not intend to
recommend that Members of the Opposition be invited to join the
Board but that he would keep the matter under review.

3.

WEST HERTFORDSHIRE HOSPITALS TRUST STRATEGIC
OUTLINE CASE FOR HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT
Officer Contact: David Evans- Director of Commissioning – Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (tel: 01442 284035) &
Helen Brown- Deputy Chief Executive- West Hertfordshire Hospitals
3

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 7

NHS Trust (tel: 01923 217 388)
3.1

Members received a presentation outlining the proposals for the
hospital redevelopment. The presentation received can be found
here:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=15
3&MId=1242&Ver=4

3.2

The Board learnt that the emerging preferred option of the four
illustrated alternatives was Option 1, as this continued to provide
medical provision on all three of the sites; Watford General Hospital,
Hemel Hempstead Hospital and St Albans City Hospital; and careful
consideration had been made to which services were allocated where
to ensure that they appropriately and efficiently met service user need
and were also future proof. It was noted that the services provided at
each of the sites would be supported by increased medical provision
through homecare services within the community.

3.3

In response to Board challenge, the Board were assured that despite
concerns raised during public consultation, due to officers being clear,
open and honest throughout, public and partners were now broadly
understanding of the significant financial challenges faced by the
Trust and CCG, and the parallel need to adapt services to meet the
changing health and social care needs in the 21st century society. It
was noted that the public had acknowledged that existing treatment
for conditions sometimes already required a visit to different hospital
sites; for instance, currently referrals were made to Mount Vernon for
oncology, Moorfields for opthamology, and the Royal National
Orthopaedic Hospital for orthopaedics.

3.4

During discussion, the Board noted that affordability had been a key
driver in considering the preferred option, with the need to work to a
budget of £350m, but assurance was received that the outcome
reached was as robust as it would have been even if the Trust and
CCG had received an increased budget allocation for the
development. The Board commended officers for the immense
amount of work undertaken to reach the current position.

3.5

In response to a request from the Board it was agreed that the Trust
would provide a shorter ‘plan on a page’ presentation for Members of
the Council to share with their constituents.

3.6

The timeline for the next steps in the development, outlined at 4.7 of
the report was highlighted to the Board.

David
Evans/Hele
n Brown

Conclusion:
3.7

The following recommendation, proposed by Cllr Teresa Heritage and
seconded by Cllr Tim Hutchings was unanimously agreed by the
4

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 8

Board:
The Board noted the report and endorsed Option 1 as the emerging
preferred way forward and its attached funding envelope.

4.

PROPOSAL TO CHANGE THE MEMBERSHIP OF
HERTFORDSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
Officer Contact: Edward Knowles- Assistant Director, Health
Integration (Herts Valleys) (Tel: 01992 555459)

4.1

The Board considered a report outlining proposals to change the
membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board to reflect current
developments in health and care services.

4.2

In response to a Member question, it was clarified that there should
be seven and not six NHS members on the Board.

Edward
Knowles

4.3

Further to discussion, it was agreed that to ensure quoracy at
meetings, two of the attending representatives from the Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCG) should be the Chairman OR an
Accountable Officer.

Edward
Knowles

4.4

It was further agreed that to promote representation from
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG, contact would be made with
officers at the CCG to discuss the possibility of proxy attendance.

Beverley
Flowers

4.5

It was noted that careful consideration and further exploration should
be made as to who from and how the voluntary sector would be
represented on the Board.

Edward
Knowles

Conclusion:
4.6

The Board recommended to County Council that it:
 Agreed the proposed changes to its membership as described
in section 5 of the report;
 Adopted the proposed changes to the Board’s Constitution as
set out in section 6 of the report;
 Agreed that authority be delegated to the Chief Legal Officer to
make the amendments to the Constitution of the Board as
required, to take forward the proposed changes within the
report.

5
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 9

5.

BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE QUARTER 4 2018/2019
Officer Contact: : Edward Knowles- Assistant Director, Health
Integration (Herts Valleys) (Tel: 01992 555459)

5.1

The Board considered a report outlining the Better Care Fund update
for Quarter 4 2018/19.

5.2

The Board received a presentation providing further detail on the
update outlined within the report. This can be found here:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=15
3&MId=1242&Ver=4

5.3

The members of the Board were pleased to note the overall positive
performance figures.

5.4

Discussion was held on the risk associated with the delay in
publication of the NHS England guidance for the Better Care Fund for
2019/20. Assurance was received that strategies to mitigate risk were
in place in the interim period. It was agreed that guidance would be
circulated to Board members as soon as it was received.

5.5
7.

Edward
Knowles

Conclusion:
The Board noted the key points of the Better Care Fund performance
to date.
HERTFORDSHIRE PARTNERSHIP UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION
NHS TRUST (HPFT) : CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC)
INSPECTION AND RATING AND ANNUAL PLAN 2019/20
Officer contact: Sandra Brookes – Director of Service Delivery &
Customer Experience (Tel: 01707 253800) and Asif Zia – Director of
Quality & Medical Leadership (Tel 01707 253800)

7.1

The Board received a report detailing the outcome of the HPFT’s
recent Care Quality Commission inspection and its Annual Plan for
2019/20.

7.2

The Board received a presentation providing further detail on the
update outlined within the report. This can be found here:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=15
3&MId=1242&Ver=4

7.3

Members of the Board commended officers of the awarding of
‘oustanding’ further to HPFT’s recent Care Quality Commission
(CQC) inspection.
6

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 10

7.4

In discussing the Annual Plan for 2019/20, the Board reflected on the
recent sharp increase in demand for child and adolescent mental
health services, and noted that this mirrored a spike in referrals to the
Council’s Children’s Services. Assurance was received that work was
being undertaken by the Council to understand the reasons behind
this, but it was broadly acknowledged that early intervention was key
to the success of any support provided.

7.5

Further assurance was received that child and adolescent mental
health support was also one of the priority workstreams for HPFT,
along with mental health support for women.

7.6

The Board discussed the support available for children within the
school environment, and whilst it was acknowledged that school
budgets were tight, the Board were interested to learn that schools in
the county are provided with a toolkit to help identify and manage
mental health concerns with their pupils, and there were good
practice examples of schools providing additional mental health
support provision within across the county. It was agreed that a
mapping exercise should be undertaken in order for the full level of
provision available in schools to be identified and fully utilised.

7.7

A Board member comment that prevention through supported
parenting was acknowleged.

7.8

The Board broadly agreed that early referral and collaborative
partnership work were essential to meet the significant future
challenges of mental health support.

7.9

Conclusion:
The Board noted the achievement of a CQC rating of outstanding and
what it meant for the care and services the population of Hertfordshire
are receiving.

Jenny
Coles

The Board noted the HPFT’s plans for 2019/20.
6.

HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP (STP) UPDATE REPORT
Officer contact: Iain Macbeath- Director of Adult Care Services/
Beverley Flowers- Chief Executive of East & North Herts CCG

6.1

The Board considered a report outlining an update from the
Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP).

6.2

Board Members were pleased to learn that Iain Macbeath and
Beverley Flowers had been appointed joint Interim Chief Executives of
the Herts & West Essex STP in addition to their substantive posts.
7

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 11

6.3

6.4

6.5

It was advised that fortnightly and monthly reports would now be
produced by the STP and an update on the development of the
Primary Care Networks (PCN’s) would be discussed at the next
meeting of the Health & Wellbeing Board.
It was noted that a five year plan for the STP was currently being
developed and the Board would receive updates on this in due
course. Officers from the STP would be meeting with health providers
and commissioners over the next few months in order to discuss the
formulation of this. Further to discussion it was agreed that officers
from Children’s Services should also be part of the discussions.
Further to a request from a Board member, it was agreed that a list of
PCN’s would be circulated to Members.

Beverley
Flowers/Iain
Macbeath

Beverley
Flowers/Iain
Macbeath

Conclusion:
6.6

The update from the Herts and West Essex STP was noted.

9.

ANY OTHER URGENT PART I BUSINESS

9.1

There was no other urgent Part I business.

QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

CHAIRMAN

8
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 12

Agenda Item No.

3
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2019 AT 10:00AM
UPDATE FROM THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX
SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP (STP)
(HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE)
Report of the STP Co-Lead
Author: Dennis Carlton STP Head of Programme Management Office (PMO)
Tel: 07989 705616
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To update Health & Wellbeing Board Members on the work of the
Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership has been in place since January 2016. The partnership is
now being asked to submit a response to the NHS Long Term Plan,
published this year. The proposal for this is outlined at Appendix 1 of
this report.

2.2

The partnership has been assigned ‘accelerator status’ from NHS
England and is using the resources that brings to looks at its
governance, workstreams and system leadership to move to an
Integrated Care System by April 2021.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

That Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board notes and comments
on the report and discusses any matters arising from its contents.

Agenda Pack Page 13

1

4.

Background- overview

4.1

Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs) were
announced by NHS England in January 2016 as the vehicle to achieve
change in local health systems, return the NHS to financial balance
and enhance partnerships with local authorities on social care and
population health.

4.2

Our STP’s approach has been to prioritise the development of an
integrated health and social care strategy, with the two county and
thirteen district councils playing a full role in its development. The
appointment of the Director of Adult Care Services as one of two
interim system leaders in May 2019 confirmed the commitment of
Hertfordshire County Council to making the integrated health and
social care strategy a success. Other Council Directors, Jenny Coles
and Jim McManus are acting as senior responsible officers for the
Children’s and Maternity workstream and Population Health
Management workstreams, respectively.

4.3

In April, NHS England published the NHS Long Term Plan, which sets
out the priorities and ambitions for the health service over the next five
years. This document can be found at the following link:
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/

4.4

Local health and care systems are now working to develop their own
response to this plan. These must be submitted in draft by the end of
September 2019 to regional NHS leaders before being formally agreed
in November. Our STP’s own five-year strategic plan will then be
amalgamated with plans from across the country and feed into the
NHS’ National Implementation Plan, which is due to be published in
December this year.

4.5

Our plan must clearly describe the population needs and the case for
change in our area, proposing practical actions that the system will
take to deliver the improvements for individuals and communities. This
is described by NHS England as our ‘system narrative’, which in turn
must be supported by credible STP-wide finance, workforce and
activity plans.

4.6

The NHS Long Term Plan acknowledges the central role of local
government in improving health and wellbeing, through its influence on
the ‘wider determinants’ of health including planning, economic
development and the environment as well as through the direct
commissioning and funding of preventative health services.

5.

Transforming our STP into an ‘Integrated Care System’

Agenda Pack Page 14

2

5.1

The shift towards Integrated Care Systems (ICS) is one of the main
expectations articulated in the NHS Long Term Plan. The plan sets out
an ambition for each STP to go through a process to become an ICS
over the next 18 months. In turn, this will be supported by three placebased Integrated Care Partnerships on the same geography as the
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s). In addition, partners are
discussing the creation of a specialist mental health and learning
disabilities Integrated Care Partnership[ (ICP) across Hertfordshire and
West Essex to assist people with acute mental health needs or the
most complex learning disabilities.

5.2

The ICS will take the lead in planning care for the population and
providing system leadership. It will bring together NHS providers,
commissioners and local authorities to work in partnership to improve
health and care. To support this new structure, there is an expectation
that existing CCG’s in each STP area will consolidate, which would
mean that our area has one, “leaner, more strategic” CCG rather than
the current three. This restructured single CCG will be expected to
work with NHS providers to partner with local government and other
community organisations on population health, service redesign and
the implementation of the long-term plan.

5.3

In response to these national developments, the Chairs and Chief
Executives of our CCGs have been meeting to consider how we will
implement this. Each CCG board will be presented with a proposal to
appoint a single CEO Accountable Officer to lead the three CCGs. If
the proposal is approved, a recruitment process will begin, with the aim
of appointing to the post by April 2020. It is anticipated that this role will
lead to the creation of a single senior management team across the
Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs. This is expected to be the
catalyst for the three CCG’s to develop proposals and consider
merging into a single, STP-wide organisation by April 2021.

5.4

ICS leaders have been promised greater freedoms to manage the
operational and financial performance of services in their area. More
than a third of the UK population is now covered by an ICS.

5.5

Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) are alliances of provider
organisations, with elements of CCG commissioning, that work
together to deliver care by agreeing to collaborate rather than compete.
These alliances routinely consist of providers including hospitals,
community services, mental health services and GPs. Social care and
independent and third sector providers will also be involved.

5.6

In June, NHS England judged our STP to be ‘Making Good Progress’
and agreed to become official ‘accelerator’ site. This means that our
STP can access additional external support, in the form of specialist
advice from NHS England to help with our progression towards forming

Agenda Pack Page 15

3

an ICS and ICPs.
6.

Primary Care Networks

6.1

In addition to the creation of an ICS and ICPs, further organisational
changes within our STP area will be essential to formalise and embed
new ways of working. The NHS Long Term Plan mandated the creation
of ‘Primary Care Networks’ (PCNs), by July 2019. These are networks
of general practices which provide a wider range of services to patients
and integrate more easily with the wider health and care system.
Across Hertfordshire and West Essex, 34 Primary Care Networks,
have formed, each with a newly funded clinical director, and serves a
population of approximately 30-50,000 people.

6.2

While GP practices have been finding different ways of working
together over many years, the NHS long-term plan and the new fiveyear framework for the national GP contract put a more formal
structure around this way of working, but without creating new statutory
bodies. PCNs will be expected to provide a wider range of primary care
services to patients, involving a wider set of staff roles than might be
feasible in individual practices, for example, first contact physiotherapy,
extended access and social prescribing. Networks will receive specific
funding for clinical pharmacists and social prescribing link workers in
2019/20, with funding for physiotherapists, physician associates and
paramedics in subsequent years.

6.3

This national investment in and recognition of the transformational
effect that social prescribing can have on people’s lives, particularly
those of our most vulnerable residents, is particularly notable.
Hertfordshire County Council has long been at the forefront of pushing
forward the social prescribing agenda, in partnership with our voluntary
and community sector colleagues.

7.

STP workstreams

7.1

The STP have used national benchmarking data to identify the areas
where Hertfordshire and West Essex can effect the greatest
improvement and transformation when compared to other areas.
These areas have been adopted as formal clinical transformational
workstreams in the STP’s plan and are ‘frailty and complex needs
patients’, ‘planned care’ and ‘children and maternity’. Meanwhile the
following three ‘enabling’ workstreams have been prioritised as intrinsic
to the successful achievement of all of the STP’s priorities: population
health management, workforce and capital (including IT and estates
management).

Agenda Pack Page 16

4

Eg Exec/Board of CCG,
Authority Board meeting etc
Identify Board member(s)
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire
HWB
Strategy Identify which priority/ies:
Eg Starting Well
priorities supported by this report
Needs assessment (activity taken)
Report signed off by

Local

Consultation/public involvement (activity taken or planned)
Equality and diversity implications
Acronyms or terms used. eg:
Initials
In full
COPD
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Agenda Pack Page 17

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 3 Appendix 1

NHS Long Term Plan
Hertfordshire & West Essex STP
Agenda Pack Page 19

Beverley Flowers & Iain MacBeath, STP Co-Leads

Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board
October 2019

Introduction and Timeline
The NHS Long Term Plan
Agenda Pack Page 20

• Published in January 2019
• A new service model
• Prevention and health inequalities
• Care quality and outcomes
• Workforce and Digital
• Investment from tax payers

Timeline for submissions
• First draft submissions from ICS/STPs in
by late September
• Feedback from stakeholders / region
• Final submissions by early November
• Publish local plans by 15 November
• National plan consolidated by December

Delivering Long Term Plan Commitments
Primary &
Community
Care

People Plan
Diabetes

Agenda Pack Page 21

Personalisation

Maternity
& Neonatal

Urgent &
Emergency
Care

Stroke
Digital
Transformation

Cardio &
Respiratory
Prevention

Cancer

Elective
Learning
Disabilities
& Autism

ICS
Development

Mental
Health

Hertfordshire and West Essex
Sustainability and Transformation Plan

Our Challenges
Agenda Pack Page 22

1
Population
health
challenges
2
Workforce
challenges
3
Increasing
Demand

4
Finance and
Capital

• 12% of our population receives care
that takes up 43% of our budget
• By 2025, 38% more people will have
dementia
• Living costs are high / London effect
• 14% staff turnover rate across the
STP, rising to 30% within social care
• 25% of our workforce are over 50
• Our 2025 population will grow by
150,000 / Over 65s up by 12%
• People are living longer, but
spending more years in poor health
more
years
in the STP has an underlying
• In 19/20
poor
deficit of circa £89m
health.
• The estate at West Herts Hospitals
and Princess Alexandra Hospital
requires significant capital

Our Strategy
“Together we aim to deliver an effective
health and social care system” by:
•
•
•
•

Moving to a ‘population health’ approach
Focusing on self-management
Preventing ill-health in the community
Being as efficient as we can be

Our Priorities
1
FRAILTY
2
CHILDREN
3

PLANNED
CARE

4
POPULATION
HEALTH

1
WORKFORCE
2
DIGITAL
3
ESTATES
4
FINANCE &
CONTRACTS

Hertfordshire and West Essex
Sustainability and Transformation Plan

Governance
1
Integrated
Care
Systemm

Agenda Pack Page 23

2
CCG Closer
Working
3
Integrated
Care
Partnerships
4
Clinical /
Enabling
Workstreams

•
•
•
•

Finalising the functions of our ICS
Finance and contracting changes
Contributions to the STP
Shadow ICS Year in 2020/21

• Joint Accountable Officer for our
three CCGs before April 2020
• Joint management team soon after
• Consider merger of CCGs by 2021
• Three geographical ICPs – West Essex
• Considering a Specialist MH & LD ICP
• Roadmaps in place for each
• Principle of subsidiarity
more
• Three
years
in clinical workstreams prioritised
poor
• Four enabling workstreams prioritised
health.
• STP Programme Management Office
• ICP collaboration between partners

NHSE Accelerator
• Hertfordshire and West Essex have agreed to be
an NHSE/I Accelerator STP with support and
consultancy to move forward in our chosen
areas over the next 15 weeks.
• Currently self-assessed as ‘developing’ against
the ICS Maturity Matrix
• Our four chosen areas are:

1

3

POPULATION
HEALTH
MANAGEMENT

GOVERNANCE

2

4

CONTRACTING
AND FINANCE

LEADING
PARTNERSHIPS

What support do we need?
Agenda Pack Page 24

• Joined up approach across districts on
priorities and actions
• Common approach to prevention
activities
• Support with workforce challenges
• Help us with local engagement

Agenda Item No.

4
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2019 AT 10:00AM
HERTFORDSHIRE’S BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2019-2020
Report of Director of Adult Care Services
Author: Edward Knowles Assistant Director, Health Integration (Herts Valleys)
Tel: 01992 555459
1.

Purpose of report

1.1.

To provide an overview of the Better Care Fund Plan 2019-2020
narrative for Health & Wellbeing Board review and approval.

2.

Background

2.1

The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both the NHS
and local government which seeks to join-up health and care services,
so that people can manage their own health and wellbeing and live
independently in their communities for as long as possible. The BCF
has been created to improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable
people in our society, placing them at the centre of their care and
support, and providing them with integrated health and social care
services, resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life1
(From NHS England).

2.2

Since the introduction of the BCF in 2015, Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group (HVCCG), East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (ENHCCG), Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group (CPCCG), and Hertfordshire County
Council (the Council) have entered into pooled budget arrangements,
through a Section 75 agreement, and developed integrated spending
plans through the Better Care Fund.

2.3

The Section 75 agreement provides a framework through which the
Partners can secure the future position of health and social care
services through lead or joint commissioning arrangements. The

1

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/

Agenda Pack Page 25

1

agreement is also the means through which the Partners pool funds
and align budgets for the BCF.
3.

Better Care Fund Plan 2019-20

3.1

For 2019-2020, Hertfordshire is required to submit an updated BCF
Plan. The draft narrative is attached at Appendix 1. This retains the
same national conditions and performance etrics as in 2017-2019.
These are:

3.1.1

National conditions
 Plans to be jointly agreed and signed off by the HWB area;
 NHS contribution to adult social care to be maintained in line with
the uplift to CCG Minimum Contribution;
 Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services,
which may include seven-day services and adult social care;
 Managing Transfers of Care.

3.1.2

Performance metrics
 Delayed Transfers of Care;
 Non-elective admissions (General and Acute);
 Admissions to residential and care homes;
 Effectiveness of reablement.

3.2

Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) areas have been asked to outline
lessons learned since the previous plan and areas of focus for the
upcoming year. Any major changes emerging from the national review
of the BCF will be implemented from 2020 onwards. As guidance and
the planning template for the 2019-2020 plan was released later than
expected some of the information contained in the submission reflects
activity that has developed and evolved over the first six months of the
financial year.

3.4

For the plan submission, an excel template has been developed by
NHS England. This asks the HWB to complete the following sections.

4.

Strategic narrative

4.1

This section outlines Hertfordshire’s approach towards the integration
of health and social care. The submission asks for information on the
four following areas, and our aspirations for 2019-2020.

Agenda Pack Page 26

2

o Our approach to integrating care around the person
o Our approach to integrating care at a Health and Wellbeing
Board level and aligning with Primary Care Networks/the
Voluntary sector
o Our approach to integrating with wider services e.g. Housing
and how Hertfordshire is using the Disabled Facilities Grant to
support the housing need of people with disabilities/care needs
o Our alignment to the wider system and how our BCF Plan aligns
to the wider integration landscape e.g. STP/ICS plans
5.

Income and expenditure

5.1

For the 2019/2020 submission, all HWB are required to provide
information on income and expenditure for the BCF and other
associated grants. The expenditure section provides a breakdown of
various schemes which are being funded through the BCF and
indicates how these schemes impact on the delivery of the four key
BCF metrics.
Hertfordshire’s BCF is made up of:








CCG Minimum Contributions: Nationally-defined amounts of
CCG monies with spend providing both a health and social care
benefit. The allocation for each CCG includes funding to support
local authority delivery of reablement, Carers Breaks and
implementation of duties to fund carer support under the Care
Act 2014.
Improved BCF (iBCF): A grant which is intended for:
o Meeting adult social care needs;
o Reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more
people to be discharged from hospital when they are ready.
o Ensuring that the local social care provider market is
supported.
Disabled Facilities Grant: Allocated via the BCF and
distributed to district councils to meet their statutory duty to
provide home adaptations. A portion of this is also allocated to
the Hertfordshire Home Improvement Agency which helps to
provide home adaptations, such as stair lifts and access
improvements, to Older people and people with disabilities, to
help them remain independent at home.
Winter Pressures Grant: This grant is used to support the local
health and care system to manage demand pressures on the
NHS with particular reference to seasonal winter pressures. This
includes interventions that support people to be discharged from
hospital, who would otherwise be delayed, with the appropriate
social care support in place, and which help promote people’s
independence.

Agenda Pack Page 27

3



Additional contributions: Jointly agreed additional funding
from the CCG and the Council to aid collaboration.

Table 1: BCF Financial Breakdown
Organisation / Pot
East & North Herts CCG
Herts Valleys CCG
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
CCG
Hertfordshire County Council
Disabled Facilities Capital Grant
(DFG) Allocation
Improved Better Care Fund
(iBCF)
Winter Pressures
TOTAL FUND

2019-20 Total (£000)
Additional contributions TBC (£36,106,104
Minimum contribution)
£97,406267 (£38,177,467 Minimum
contribution)
£1,160,029 Minimum contribution
£87,176,896
£7,283,182
£18,728,108
£4,134,415
TBC (East North Herts additional
contributions TBC)

*Please note at the time of this submission we were still awaiting confirmation
on Additional contributions from East and North Herts CCG. An update can
be provided at the board meeting in October 2019.
6.

High Impact Change Model (HICM)

6.1

This section provides updates on Hertfordshire’s progress in
implementing the NHS’s High Impact Change model – eight specific
system changes that, taken together, should help any system to be
able to effectively manage flow and demand. These are outlined
below:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

6.2

Early discharge planning
Systems to monitor patient flow
Multi-disciplinary/multi-agency discharge teams
Home First/Discharge to Assess
Seven-day services
Trusted Assessor
Focus on Choice
Enhancing health in care homes

Hertfordshire has progressed well against the High Impact Change
model since it was introduced. The submission discusses the work we
are planning to do to embed the model further and current
performance issues to be addressed.

Agenda Pack Page 28

4

7.

Performance Metrics

7.1

The BCF Plan is expected to demonstrate compliance with four
national conditions and four performance metrics (see point 3.1.1).
This section contains narrative on the activity that is taking place to
support us in meeting these targets as well as giving specific numerical
targets we are working towards (see point 7.2 below). Under the
Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) metric the narrative also sets out
Hertfordshire’s plan for using the Winter Pressures Grant funding.

7.2

Targets for performance metrics over previous years and in 2019/2020
have been set out below. Please refer to the submission narrative for
further detail on how we plan to meet these targets in 2019/2020.
Performance
metric
Delayed Transfers
of Care per day
(daily delays) from
hospital (aged
18+)

2017/2018
Target
105.6
Avg. Days
per day
(11.6 Avg.
Days per
day per
100k
population)
109683

2018/2019
Target
87.4
Avg. Days per
day
(9.6 Avg. Days
per day per
100k
population)

2019/2020
Predicted
87.0
Avg. Days per
day
(9.6 Avg. Days
per day per
100k
population)

Total number of
specific acute nonelective spells per
100,000 population
Long-term support Annual rate575
needs of older
people (65+) met
by admission to
residential and
nursing homes per
100,000 population

112304

120701

Annual rate505
Numerator1,015
Denominator201,242

Annual rate515
Numerator1062
Denominator206,367

Proportion of older Annual ratepeople (65 and
84.9%
over) who were still
at home 91 days
after discharge
from hospital into
reablement /
rehabilitation
services

Annual rate85.1%
Numerator383

Annual rate86.0%
Numerator585

Agenda Pack Page 29

5

8.

Submission and Approval

8.1

The BCF Plan will be submitted to NHS England on the 27 September
2019. Following this, it will go through a period of assurance. This will
first be conducted at a regional and then national level which will
include partners from the Local Government Association, Health, NHS
Finance and ADASS on the panel. Following regional assurance and
moderation, there will be a cross-regional calibration exercise with
regional colleagues to provide assurance that plans have been
assured in a consistent way across England. This may result in regions
being asked to revisit recommendations from assurance panels where
it is agreed that the requirements have not been applied consistently.
Following this, recommendations and advice for approval will be
provided to DHSC and MHCLG and then to NHS England for approval
of spending plans from the CCG minimum contribution.

8.2

Pooled arrangements between health and social care are underpinned
by the Section 75 Agreement which provides the legal framework for
the BCF and other pooled monies. The section 75 agreement was
sealed in April 2019.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

That the Board note the above and give their approval for the Better
Care Fund Plan 2019-20.

Report signed off by

Edward Knowles

Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report

Iain MacBeath
The Better Care Fund proposals relate to
all 4 Health & Wellbeing Strategy priority
areas

Needs assessment (activity taken)
In our 2019/2020 BCF plan, Hertfordshire will continue to address health inequalities
and work to ensure that people have the most positive health outcomes. We are
continuing to produce population statistics, Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and
are also working to deliver a Population Health Management Approach with Public
Health. This will provide data analysis to better design and commission services by
population cohort.
Consultation/public involvement (activity taken or planned)
The BCF plan for 2019/2020 has sought input from HCC and CCG colleagues. It has
been to various boards for sign off/approval.
Equality and diversity implications
Each project that is delivered as part of the Better Care Fund work is subject to robust
equality impact assessments to ensure the impact on different groups is understood
and where necessary mitigated against. There are no specific equality and diversity
implications arising from this report.
Acronyms or terms used. eg:
Initials
In full
ACS
Adult Care Services
ADASS
Directors of Adult Social Services

Agenda Pack Page 30

6

BCF
CCG
DHSC
DToC
HCC
HWB
ICS
MHCLG
NHSE
STP

Better Care Fund
Clinical Commissioning Group
Department of Health and Social Care
Delayed transfers of care
Hertfordshire County Council
Health & Wellbeing Board
Integrated Care System
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
NHS England
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

Agenda Pack Page 31

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 4- Appendix 1
1. Hertfordshire’s Better Care Fund plan for 2019-20
For the BCF 2019-2020 submission, NHS England have requested that Hertfordshire
provide the following information:


Strategic Narrative on Integration priorities. These are exam style questions and our
main opportunity to evidence how we will continue to integrate services over 2019/2020.
There are 4 questions in total and each focus on a specific subject area including:
o

Integrating care around the person

o

Integrating services at a Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) level

o

Integrating with wider services (housing)

o

Integrating at a system level



Narrative outlining our approach towards embedding the High Impact Change Model and
tackling current performance issues



Income and expenditure for the 2019/2020 financial year



HWB plans for meeting performance metrics

The sections below outline Hertfordshire’s response to these questions. Please note for the
strategic narrative section NHSE has imposed wordcounts on answers. Answers mainly
relate to the work Hertfordshire is doing.
The Health and Wellbeing board should note that these plans are subject to national
approval and regional assurance by NHSE and other departments. Approval letters
giving formal permission to spend (CCG minimum) are due to be released the week
commencing 18th November 2019.
At the time this report was submitted to the HWB (25th September 2019) the plan was
also due to go through other CCG boards for sign off.
2. Section one: Hertfordshire 2019-2020 Better Care Fund Plan- Strategic Narrative
Please outline your approach towards the integration of health and social care:
When providing your responses to the below sections please highlight any learning from the
previous planning round (2017-2019) and cover any priorities for reducing health inequalities
under the Equality Act 2010.
2.1 Your approach to integrating care around the person
A key success measure for health and social care integration must be the extent to which
patients and service users experience more joined-up care and feel able to exercise choice
and control. In line with the NHS Long Term Plan’s ambition that ‘people will get more
control over their own health and more personalised care when they need it’, Hertfordshire’s
BCF plan for 2019/20 maintains its focus on the on the seven ‘I ‘statements for personcentred co-ordinated care (Social Care Institute for Excellence 2017), which place the
experience of the service user at the heart of what we are trying to achieve.1

1

See Appendix 1

1

Agenda Pack Page 33

2.1.1

Tools to support person-centred care

A strategic focus for the Hertfordshire system- The Herts and West Essex STP
Personalised Care Programme aims to improve patient experience by offering new
opportunities for choice and control over health and social care needs. One key achievement
has been the development of ‘My plan’ a patient held document which has been coproduced by professionals, service users and carers to support person-centred
conversations.
For 2019/2020, ‘My plan’ will be adopted in a phased roll out by multi-agency teams
including patients with Frailty and Dementia. It is intended that this will also be available for
frequent attenders in A&E to help prevent unnecessary admissions.
The personalised care programme is driving work to increase the availability of Personal
Health Budgets (PHBs) within Hertfordshire. PHBs are now available in Mental Health,
Transforming Care, Personal Wheelchair Budgets, Children’s Continuing Care and
Education, Health and Care plans. Work is underway with providers and commissioners to
develop further PHBs, with anticipated new offers being piloted by March 2020. With
support from NHS England progress is also being made to develop a default offer to all CHC
eligible patients receiving packages of care in their own home, with an aim of being fully
compliant in this by the end of April 2020.
In 2019/20, the Personalised Care Programme will drive the development of Integrated
Personal Budgets, bringing together social care Direct Payments and PHBs to better support
people with complex health and social needs. This should also provide them with greater
control over the care they receive. As part of this work, there will be an additional focus on
points of transition between social care and health and how joint-funding and PHBs could
better support this cohort. Work is underway to identify solutions to improving processes
and expediting payments through the development of a PHB hub.
The importance of self-management and prevention also underpins the STP approach to
Frailty. The STP Frailty programme has three key themes, identification, management in the
community and management in the acute. Over the course of 2019/20, this workstream will
design the means through which those most at risk can be identified and supported across
all services. Standardised approaches and pathways will be signed off by all relevant
organisations and operationalised through the emerging Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and
locality structures. Frailty awareness sessions will also be delivered across providers
including social care, mental health, primary care, hospices and care homes, to provide
consistent messages to all involved in person centred care.
2.1.2

Resources to support person centred care and prevention

Hertfordshire continues to develop and invest in processes that enable our staff and
practitioners to support patients as a whole-system. Ever since the first BCF plan,
Hertfordshire has invested in a Multi-Speciality Team (MST) approach which enables
professionals to come together to assess and deliver action plans with the person at the
centre. Since 2017, MSTs have been rolled out across acute and community settings. Our
Integrated Discharge Teams at both major acute hospitals bring together Discharge
Planning Nurses, social workers and voluntary and community support services to better
support people leaving hospital in a safe and timely way. Our community teams, including
nurses, physiotherapists, mental health nurses and social workers regularly come together
to support GPs in reducing acute admissions and provide proactive, multi-agency case
management. For both CCGs the ambition is to align community teams with the
development of PCNs and move towards an integrated Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT)
model which will expand beyond frailty to include frequent attendees or people faced with
homelessness/drug and alcohol addiction.
2

Agenda Pack Page 34

In 2018/19, a system-wide piece of analysis, undertaken by Newton Europe identified that
coordinated support across health and social care would enable more patients to be
supported in the most appropriate setting. The study also demonstrated that this approach
would improve patients’ outcomes and ability to manage their own care. These findings have
informed our thinking around the development of Discharge to Assess (D2A) in Hertfordshire
and explicitly how we coordinate health and social care support to maximise individual’s
recovery and independence.
For the STP D2A programme team board, priorities for 2019/2020 include standardising D2A
pathways and ensuring that models designed in each locality are holistic, prioritise
prevention, recovery, and integrated working; making full use of all sectors via local
operational groups. An additional key priority for the D2A programme is that any model
agreed needs to work for discharge from the acute, as well as, step up from the community.
Furthermore, Hertfordshire has invested in an Enablement Occupational Therapy Team to
work with care providers and to complement health Occupational Therapists and Physio
Therapists. In 2019/2020, this service will upskill bed-based settings to ensure the care
provided is enabling and successfully supports the transition from hospital to home. There
are also plans to explore technological solutions to enable independence, as well as
focusing on enabling those with more complex and/or cognitive needs.
The ACS Connect Gateway programme is also is exploring a whole range of activities to
prevent, delay or reduce need for social care and enable independence. This includes
service delivery, commissioning of preventative/enablement services and developing
partnerships to deliver more effective prevention. They plan to use a multiagency and
integrated approach to deliver some of these outcomes which include:







Linking access to social care with access to integrated locality teams and frailty
pathways to ensure people only tell their story once and receive a co-ordinated
response
Ensuring the roles of ACS Occupational Therapists and NHS therapists are
complimentary to one another, particularly around intermediate care, enablement,
Prevention of Admission and D2A pathways, to help people reach their optimum level
of independence
Exploring how the ACS information and advice offer and commissioned voluntary
sector services can be integrated with the social prescribing offer to support a “no
wrong door principle” in information and advice services
Providing more timely access to equipment and housing adaptations to enable
people to stay in their own homes for longer and reduce the risk of falls
Exploring Assistive Technology solutions and their role in identifying those at risk of a
deterioration in health

3

Agenda Pack Page 35

2.1.3

Delivering positive health outcomes

In comparison to other areas of England, Hertfordshire compares quite well with health
inequalities at macro level, but there are significant pockets of inequality and unwarranted
variation in primary care outcomes. Rates for smoking and obesity are lower than the
national average. Life expectancy is also improving, although continues to be higher for
women than men. Within the county principle causes of death include heart disease, stroke,
dementia, Alzheimer’s, cancer, and respiratory diseases.2 These conditions are also
principal causes of disability and ill health. It is recognised that there is a growing number of
Older People living in Hertfordshire with a physical or learning disability and increasing rates
of multimorbidity.
In our 2019/2020 BCF plan, Hertfordshire will continue to address health inequalities and
work to ensure that people have the most positive health outcomes. We are continuing to
produce population statistics, Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and are also working to
deliver a Population Health Management Approach. This will focus on stratifying and
segmenting the population by risk, disease severity, disability, care need, and outcome.
This data will enable us to focus on cohorts who:
a) cost the system most and have most need for care
b) those whose severity is escalating preventatively to improve health and quality of life
outcomes.
This approach will enable, at an individual and cohort level, clinicians and care managers to
personalise interventions and care packages to need. At a population level, it will provide
data analysis to better design and commission services by population cohort.
All integration projects will continue to have an Equalities Quality Impact Assessment
(EQIAs), to ensure they do not discriminate against the disadvantaged or vulnerable. In
2019/2020 a new Project Manager has been recruited to join the BCF Integration Team and
will be focusing on reviewing integrated pathways including Frailty, Dementia, Housing,
Long-term conditions and Prevention of Admission, to ensure they can be accessed by
people living with a Physical or Learning disability. Another area of focus for this role will be
on Deprivation of Liberty preparation and LD nursing, as well as looking at how we can
develop plans to improve outcomes from the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR).
2.2 Hertfordshire’s approach to integrating services at a HWB level (and neighbourhood
where applicable)
2.2.1

Integrated commissioning priorities

Hertfordshire has a strong Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). Through its HWB Strategy
and system leadership it provides, the Board continues to influence the strategic direction for
the commissioning of services that relate to the health and wellbeing of the population. In
2019/20 the HWB will work closely with STP colleagues to establish its role in relation to the
development of Integrated Care systems (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
arrangements, clarifying what services and functions are best delivered and at what scale.
Collaborative and joint commissioning is established in Hertfordshire with the Council and
CCGs securing partnership agreements and joint contracts (i.e. Nursing care beds). Mental
Health, Learning Disability and CAMHs are jointly commissioned by the Council and the
CCGs and 2019/20 will also see further progress in how the Council and the CCGs work
together in the commissioning of Children’s Services and some public health interventions.
2Taken

from the ‘Health and Wellbeing section’ of the ‘Community Profile for Hertfordshire’
http://atlas.hertslis.org/profiles/profile?profileId=280&geoTypeId=16&geoIds=E10000015#

4

Agenda Pack Page 36

To enhance care in care homes, joint training and health campaigns, including a falls
campaign for home care and care homes, have been jointly commissioned through
Hertfordshire Care Providers Association (HCPA). These are delivered across Hertfordshire
and require close working arrangements with both CCG’s in order to target where the
interventions will have the biggest impact.
Plans are underway to increase the level of integrated commissioning between health and
social care partners. One priority for 2019/20 in East and North Herts (ENH) is to develop a
partnership agreement and legal framework for Continuing Health Care between HCC and
ENHCCG that can operate from April 2020. Furthermore, a joint Nursing and Care Home
specification is being developed which subject to approval will see the Local Authority and
ENHCCG jointly contracting for standard nursing care from April 2020. From October 2019,
Adult Community Health Services in the Herts Valleys area will be provided by Central
London Community Healthcare. The Council and Herts Valleys (HV) CCG have worked
closely together to ensure that integration is a priority within this contract and have identified
a programme of work to ensure better connection and joint working between all community
teams. In ENH, the Council, HPFT and HCT are evaluating its Integrated Care Service, with
a view to exploring further opportunities for integrating services to meet the demands of the
frail and elderly population.
Through our continued partnership working with HPFT our focus for 2019/2020 will be
delivering a CAMHS Transformation Plan, a new joint Learning Disability strategy and plan
for delivering Mental health and learning disability aspects of the NHS Long Term Plan.
2.2.2

Locality development and PCNs

A major development since the 2017/2019 BCF plan has been the development and
evolution of PCNs and Local Delivery Boards. Each CCG area has a Local Delivery Board
which is focusing on using a place-based approach to deliver care. These boards encourage
strategic leaders from across the system to identify local priorities and action plans needed
to transform services to meet these needs.
A recent focus across all Delivery Boards has been aligning with PCNs. In Herts Valleys,
PCNs have been instrumental in the development of ambitious, multi-agency locality plans,
identifying shared priorities across different statutory organisations. These include
developing the locality approach to multi-disciplinary teams, with a particular focus on
maintaining a person-centred approach for people with complex needs, including Frailty. In
ENH there is ongoing work with the CCG to specify activities to be completed by PCNs.
Projects have also been planned by the Integrated Care Delivery Boards. For example,
memory cafes are being implemented across multiple localities, which provides a safe space
for people concerned about their memory/carers concerned about their loved ones
developing dementia. There are also plans to extend MDT Frailty Clinics following a
successful pilot in Letchworth.
2.2.3

Integration with the Voluntary Sector

Hertfordshire benefits from a vibrant and engaged voluntary and community sector. They sit
at the heart of the county wide Hospital and Community Navigator Service (HCNS). This
service works across hospital sites and in the community and delivers social prescribing
services to support services users on discharge from hospital and enable them to access
wider services.

5

Agenda Pack Page 37

For 2019/2020 we will continue to focus on making social prescribing and community-based
support ‘business as usual’.3 This includes expanding the ‘social prescribing’ model to
incorporate the NHSE PCN Social Prescribing Link Worker roles via a third sector
organisation, to reduce, delay or prevent the need for further health and social care
intervention with additional support from Delivery boards.
Plans are underway to use feedback from social prescribers to identify gaps in VCS
provision, which may relate to type of service or location. This intelligence will be used to
stimulate appropriate new services.
To further align with the Voluntary Sector, the HWB has recommended that its membership
extends to the Hertfordshire Compact Steering Group, to ensure the voluntary sector voice is
included in strategic decision making and plans.
2.3 Your approach to integration with wider services e.g. housing
Hertfordshire’s approach to integration recognises the role played by partners and wider
services, outside of the health and social care organisations. Hertfordshire has 10
District/Borough councils whose services have a direct impact on the health and wellbeing of
the Hertfordshire population. Both CCGs and the County Council have regular interactions
with the Districts/Boroughs. During 2019/20 further work is required to understand how best
to involve these key partners (and their wider network of stakeholders) in STP
developments, specifically the development of ICPs and locality working.
A key area of overlap with the District/Boroughs is housing. The Adult Care Services’ 3-year
plan sets out an ambition to develop 3000+ units of supported accommodation and to
support more people to live in mainstream housing by 2021.4 Adult Care Directors at
Hertfordshire County Council, chair Strategic Supported Accommodation Boards with each
of the Districts/Boroughs and the Director of Adult Services co-chairs the Hertfordshire
Strategic Supported Accommodation Board. These boards discuss local housing issues for
adults with care and support needs, including older people and have a number of individual
projects and workstreams which are leading to improve outcomes for people with disabilities
or age-related conditions. Some recent examples include:


The provision of six new-built fully accessible wheelchair flats though the Council’s
developer arm as part of a wider housing development



Four move-on accommodation flats developed by the borough council for adults with
learning disabilities approaching independent living



A memorandum of understanding to help adults with disabilities into general needs
housing more easily



A new extra care housing development strategy to improve care and health
outcomes. This will also help with pressures on the wider housing market, increasing
affordable housing options for older people approaching retirement.

There is also joint working taking place between the County Council and Stevenage Borough
Council in developing a joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy.
Additional Winter Monies, included through the BCF, have also been allocated via a working
group of the County and District councils to support the hospital Community Navigators to

‘Introduction, Social prescribing and Community-based support summary guide’ Page 4,
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/social-prescribing-community-basedsupport-summary-guide.pdf
4 ‘Valuing Independence’, Hertfordshire Adult Care Services 3 year plan, Page 5,
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/adult-social-services/acs-3-year-plan.pdf
3

6

Agenda Pack Page 38

deliver specifically housing related services to people coming out of hospital to aid
reablement and swift discharge back home.
Further work is required in 2019/20 to consider how Hertfordshire works with housing
authorities and the local Home Improvement Agency to consider the provision of information
and advice, particularly around housing issues.
2.3.1 How Hertfordshire is using the DFG to support the housing need of people with
disabilities or care needs
A significant element of DFG funding is allocated directly to the Hertfordshire Home
Improvement Agency (HHIA). 5 of the 10 District Councils within Hertfordshire are affiliated
with this service. Work is underway to improve and expand the HHIA following its
implementation. The HHIA helps to provide home adaptations, such as stair lifts and access
improvements, to Older people and people with disabilities, to help them remain independent
at home. It is a service made up of caseworkers, trusted assessors and technical teams who
offer information, advice and assistance to service users throughout the process of home
adaptation work.
Currently, a review of the Regulatory Reform Order Discretionary Policy is taking place to
look at how the services the HHIA delivers could be expanded and how the DFG can be
used more creatively. This will look to enhance funding for, and speed of provision of,
adaptations for those with acute needs e.g. disabilities acquired as a result of accidents. It
will sit alongside a new Framework for Contractors, which will remove the need for a lengthy
tender process for some of the simpler adaptations (e.g. ramps), ensuring that the pathway
for DFGs is quicker and smoother.
The pathway for both application, approval and completion of DFG works is also under
review, with a clear focus on the reducing the time it takes to undertake DFG works. It is
anticipated that this will enable greater focus on the ability to meet the needs of those
requiring adaptations as part of a hospital discharge package, for example, stair lifts or
ramping.
Hertfordshire is also working with technology providers to trial and pilot how assistive
technology can be used to support vulnerable service users and improve their outcomes.
Work will take place across the CCGs and HCC in 2019/20 to consider opportunities and
priority areas for such investment and how this can help deliver a joined-up and integrated
experience for the patient/service user.
2.4 How Hertfordshire’s’ approach to integration aligns at a system level
2.4.1 How the BCF plan and other plans align to the wider integration landscape
In April 2019, Hertfordshire and West Essex STP released its integrated Health and Care
Strategy for a Healthier Future. The strategy is built around the principles of population
health management and promotes the need to target collective resources where they will
have the greatest impact, improving the quality of care through improved and affordable
services. Its key priorities include:





Meeting people’s health and social care needs in a joined up way in their local
neighbourhoods
Prioritising those with the highest levels of need, reducing the variations in care
Placing equal value and emphasis on people’s mental and physical health and
wellbeing

7

Agenda Pack Page 39

The BCF plan aligns with these priorities and see them as important areas of focus. The
strategy also outlines how we will need to ensure that we have the workforce, technology,
contracting and payment mechanisms in place to deliver health and care efficiently across
organisational boundaries. Recently the STP released its Health and Social Care workforce
strategy for 2019 which recognises how in order to deliver high quality, person centred and
proactive care, there needs to be a clear focus on the health and social care workforce. The
strategy will act as a guideline for the STP and organisations within it to support and develop
its workforce.
This BCF plan fully aligns with the STP priorities and supports the latest thinking and
developments around the ICS and the ICP. Our BCF vision incorporates the ‘challenges’ of
the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, which will improve care delivery for
Hertfordshire residents over the next five years. The STP focuses on four key challenges:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Living well and preventing ill-health
Transforming primary and community services
Improving urgent and hospital services
Providing health and care more efficiently and effectively

Many of the programmes and projects advanced by the STP either originated from BCFfunded activity or are managed and supported by the BCF-funded Integrated Care
Programme Team. This helps to ensure that the BCF is supporting system priorities but also
that integration between health and social care sits at the heart of STP activity. Specific
areas of overlap between the BCF and the STP include the personalised care workstream,
Frailty, Technology and D2A.
Priorities for Personalised Care, Frailty and D2A services have been referenced elsewhere
in the plan. For the Technology workstream, four key programmes of work have been
identified to meet the national requirements of the NHS Long Term plan. Objectives for these
programmes are outlined below:





Interoperability: Improving the sharing of data across health and social care
settings and enabling professionals to access patient records wherever they are
Urgent Care: Implementation an Urgent Care Dashboard that displays live,
automatic, integrated hospital and social care activity to support system resilience
across the STP.
Primary Care: Developing digital solutions for primary care
Long Term Plan – Citizen Focus: Creating technological platforms that allow
citizens to manage their own health and wellbeing and access the right
information

Our BCF plan has a number of priorities that support the Technology Programme’s
objectives. One example is the development of a Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG)
solution. This tool presents key primary care data directly into the contextual view of the
social care information system, matching the service user to their GP record to display a
combination of health and social care data in a single setting to support more effective data
sharing and support development of a Shared Care Record. Another priority in our
2019/2020 plan is continuing to develop and imbed a new Urgent Care Dashboard, through
Transforming Systems SHREWD software. This displays real-time data from all operational
partners across the STP to demonstrate pressures across the system, enabling more
meaningful day to day operational decisions to be made. Since implementing the system,
the data displaying in SHREWD continues to gain confidence and is being configured within
each locality. It is expected this dashboard and the accompanying Escalation indicators will
be fully operational across the STP in time for this year’s winter pressures.
8

Agenda Pack Page 40

Alongside the Integrated Health and Care Strategy, we have ensured that the BCF plan
aligns with specific organisational priorities and goals and that integration, in turn, features
within their own strategic planning. Our BCF plan brings together national, local and adult
care specific strategies where health and social care integration is necessary for service
transformation (click here for more information- please note some of these strategies are
due to be refreshed).
A number of additional strategies and work programmes have also developed since the
previous plan was submitted, including the Adult Services 15-year plan. This has 4 strategic
ambitions, Information and Advice, Community First, Valuing independence and Caring well,
each of which is underpinned by integration priorities across health and care services but
also predicated on wider integration with local communities and providers.
The plan specifically identifies its ambitions for integration, noting that in 5 years’ time, the
County Council aspires to:


Being fully integrated with partners, allowing individuals to access their health and
care records



Have a joined up approach to information and advice which fits seamlessly with
partners



Be fully joined up with health services to tailor support that will support people to get
well and prevent readmission to hospital

We will continue to ensure our BCF priorities support these aspirations over the 2019/2020
year.
2.4.2 Integrated Care System Arrangements
Currently the Herts and West Essex system is in the process of developing its 5-year plan.
Work is also underway to support the health and social care system towards shadow ICS
and ICP arrangements from April 2020. The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board
has recently been updated to include the STP’s independent chair as a member and may be
revised again later in 2019/20 following the appointment of a single Accountable Officer for
the three CCGs and the development of single CCG executive management structure.
The specific role of local government (both County and District/Borough Councils) in these
arrangements and in the development of the ICPs is still to be determined. The County
Council is fully involved in these conversations and is considering how best to represent all
its diverse functions (Adult Services, Children’s Services and Public Health services) in the
future arrangements. The leadership of the Herts and West Essex STP is currently shared
between the Director of Adult Social Services and the Chief Executive of East and North
Hertfordshire CCG, providing a visible example of joined up thinking and planning across the
system.
2.4.3 Joint governance arrangements for the BCF plan
Governance of the BCF for 2019-20 will use the same mechanisms developed in the previous
plan. Performance of individual projects will be monitored within respective project groups
which in turn report into relevant CCG programme boards and/or the Adult Care Services
Management Board. This is also an escalation procedure for identifying and addressing
underperforming schemes. If required, performance monitoring of significant decisions
regarding service design or operation may be escalated to CCG-HCC Strategic Partnership
Boards (previously known as Joint Executive Boards).

9

Agenda Pack Page 41

The BCF Plan is also supported by the Section 75 agreement which outlines the legal risk
management and risk sharing arrangements between HCC and the CCGs for the pooled
funds. The current Section 75 agreement was sealed in April 2019.
Keeping the patient at the centre of everything Hertfordshire does is reflective of the personcentred joined up care framework that forms this Plan’s vision. Priorities have been shaped
by BCF engagement events used to inform previous BCF Plans, as well as existing health
and care plans based on patient and carer engagement such as the STP, HV’s Your Care
Your Future, and the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy. Hertfordshire Healthwatch is
also a key member of the HWB. Within Hertfordshire, there is a strong commitment to
strategic co-production and a recent review has resulted in the development of a number of
new boards which aim to enable service users and carers a direct channel to voice their
views and take part in key strategic and commissioning decisions. The personalised care
programme has also established an All Age Personalisation co-production group. This is a
group which covers Herts and West Essex (STP) who co-produce innovative and effective
solutions to improve people’s experiences of services and focus on making care more
personalised. The group has worked on a number of projects which link to the BCF such as
‘My plan’ across Herts Valleys and East and North Herts and is also working to look at how
to improve the personal budget process.
3

Hertfordshire 2019-2020 Better Care Fund plan: High Impact Change Model

Explain your priorities for embedding elements of the HICM for managing transfers of
care locally:
Since the 2017/2019 submission there have been significant developments in progressing
the High Impact Change Model. Systems to Monitor Patient flow has moved from ‘plans
being in place’ to becoming well established and MSTs, Trusted assessors and enhancing
health in care homes schemes have become Mature. The table below displays where we
currently are in September 2019.

Chg
1
Chg
2
Chg
3
Chg
4
Chg
5

Please enter
current position
of maturity

Please enter the
maturity level
planned to be
reached by March
2020

Early discharge
planning

Established

Established

Systems to monitor
patient flow

Established

Established

Multi-disciplinary/Multiagency discharge teams

Mature

Mature

Home first / discharge
to assess

Established

Established

Established

Established

Seven-day service

10

Agenda Pack Page 42

Chg
6
Chg
7
Chg
8

Trusted assessors

Focus on choice

Enhancing health in
care homes

Mature

Mature

Established

Established

Mature

Mature

We anticipate that High Impact changes will remain at their current levels of either
established or mature by April 2020 and plans are in place tackle current challenges and
embed the changes further. Some of these are highlighted below.
3.1 High impact change 1- Early discharge planning
A big challenge facing early discharge planning is the lack of available homecare, therapy
provision and residential placements over weekends. This has led to delayed discharges
and has had an adverse effect on early discharge planning. A Project Group has been set up
to look at options to address this challenge, in preparation for the winter. One area which
has been discussed has been offering providers incentive payments to encourage them to
take weekend admissions.
In East and North Hertfordshire, the Discharge Home to Assess initiative has seen the
number of referrals increase by 50% through an integrated approach to supporting early
discharges with care and therapy at home. One challenge facing early discharge planning
has been issues in accessing IT systems. Clinical navigators have been unable to access
health systems at Watford Hospital, which has led to delays and reliance on multiple
systems in order to understand the patient’s journey. A business case is currently awaiting
review to tackle this challenge which if approved, would enable clinical navigators more
access to the health patient database system.
In preparation for winter a bid has been put forward for more nursing staff within the
Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) at Watford hospital. This should alleviate some of the
pressure over winter, support prevention and assist with early discharge planning. Further
social care and nursing staff have been recruited to support both Lister and Princess
Alexandra IDT teams to support swift discharges across all pathways.
In the Acute, Frailty units are being expanded as part of the Integrated Urgent Care (ICU)
requirements. This will lead to more comprehensive geriatric assessments being conducted
and should help with discharge planning for patients suffering from frailty.
3.2 High impact change 2- Systems to monitor patient flow
Through the integration of our STP Technology and Urgent and Emergency Care
workstreams, a bespoke dashboard product, SHREWD, was procured. SHREWD displays
live, automatic integrated hospital, social care and community services activity to support
system flow to reduce delayed transfers of care and increase efficiencies, filtering by CCG
localities and individual metrics. As the SHREWD dashboard continues to be developed, it
will replace localised dashboards currently used by individual teams and organisations, with
data from these sources often being from the previous day, making “live” operational
decisions near impossible. SHREWD will enable operational staff to view system pressures
throughout the day, enabling a more proactive rather than reactive response in making key
11

Agenda Pack Page 43

operational decisions to better manage system pressures. The SHREWD dashboard is on
course to be fully operational during winter 19-20. An additional component of SHREWD,
Escalation will also be embedded. This will use defined metrics from the SHREWD
dashboard to alert key stakeholders across the system when there are changes in system
pressures and view what mitigating actions operational leads have (or have not) taken in
response to these pressures, to further aid operational teams to anticipate and manage
demand across the whole health and social care system and expedite patient flow.
The County Council currently commissions Herts Care Search to support families and
professionals to identify where care homes have empty beds. This is currently being
reviewed and compared against the NHS Capacity Bed Tracker to understand which system
is best to support patient flow.
There is still a high volume of services users who remain on acute beds after 21 days. This
has led to negative outcomes for patients due to deconditioning and impacts on system flow.
One of the ways we are addressing this is through Long Length of stays reviews. Plans are
in place to work with Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) at both Lister and
Watford General Hospitals as an accelerator site for the new long length of stay review
process and coding. A second ECIST supported workshop is taking place in October to
continue to explore joint commissioning opportunities for D2A.
3.3 High impact change 3- MDT/MST
There is a challenge, in the Acute Hospitals, to change long established practices and
update operating procedures. We are working with our partners and wider stakeholders to
embed MDT working, Doctors and Consultants to help them understand the role of the IDT
team and ensure early discussions around discharge onto the correct pathway for their care
needs.
As identified elsewhere in the submission there has been positive progress in embedding the
community navigator service. One current challenge is that community navigators are not
always included in existing MDTs and a challenge for 2019/2020 will be ensuring the
voluntary sector has a voice. This could lead to a range of benefits including linking lonely
people with local services and supporting the housing application process.
The development of PCNs has presented additional challenges for the community navigator
service and there have been issues in retaining staff, leaving gaps in staffing. Across the
STP a proposal has been developed to integrate the new social prescribing PCNs within the
current community navigator set up which is hoped to alleviate some of this pressure. This
will be a key priority for 2019/2020. The development of PCNs will also have an impact on
MDTs because they will be moving resources from a locality level to PCN level. The STP
have developed best practice for MDTs in the community and both CCGs are looking to
implement this, working with their health and social care colleagues.
3.4 High impact change 4- Homefirst/D2A (including any changes in the context of
commitments to Reablement in the NHS Long Term plan).
Hertfordshire re-ablement and domiciliary care contracts have been designed and
commissioned to promote well-being, keep people safe, adopt an enabling approach and
support people to live independently for longer. They are pivotal in implementing Discharge
to Assess Pathway 1, the prevention agenda and ensuring a home first approach is adopted
after a change in circumstance. These services mean people have the opportunity to reable, recover and/or receive their care in their own homes rather than moving into a
residential home, hospital, or other formal care setting.
One of the key challenges facing our home care market is capacity. Hertfordshire County
Council is currently in the process of re-commissioning reablement and support at home
12

Agenda Pack Page 44

services into a single contract across 9 lot areas in the county. Under the new contract the
service will operate using a different model, delivering outcomes focused support rather than
time and task. It is intended that bringing these services together will develop a clearer
pathway, with fewer transfers between services to improve continuity of care and flow
between Reablement and Support at Home. Service Providers will also have greater
flexibility and control to manage fluctuations in demand to meet assessed needs as defined
by the Care Act 2014. It is intended that the new contract will allow more opportunities to
develop initiatives from previous contracts to further align health and social care services
Another challenge is workforce and recruitment of staff. The new contract is set to alleviate
some of this pressure through developing a robust financial model to aid providers in
delivering growth and retention of staff within the care sector which aims to generate market
resilience. Furthermore, plans are in place to incentivise staff through other methods such as
closer MDT working with health colleague and upskilling/training such as the Physio Support
Facilitator Role.
The NHS long term plan outlined a number of priorities for reablement. This included
delivering more community and intermediate health care packages to support crisis care, as
well as, how extra recovery, reablement and rehab support will wrap around core services to
support people with the highest levels of need. Hertfordshire is addressing this challenge
through ensuring the new contract is fit for purpose for both discharges from the acute
hospital and step up from the community. In 2019/2020 priorities for this work will be to
continue to develop a robust integrated offer that can rapidly wraparound people with varying
levels of acuity e.g. D2A Pathway 1, Delirium Recovery Pathway, Stroke ESD pathway,
Rapid Response, therapy led Specialist Care at Home.
3.5 High impact change 5- Seven day services
One of the biggest challenges we have faced since the original submission has been the
lack of whole system approach to 7-day services. Hertfordshire County Councils Integrated
Discharge Teams have been operating 7 days a week since February 2017, however other
elements of the system are still providing weekend support on a voluntary basis or still
operating as 5-day services. Across the system a response is being developed in order to
understand how we can improve weekend discharges (as referenced under High Impact
Change 1). This will also include extending the Frailty model within the front door of A&E to
help prevent unnecessary admissions to hospital.
Internal pressures within trusts including doctor reviews, To Take Out medication (TTOs),
discharge letters and lack of acute therapists have also presented a challenge in fully
delivering this High Impact change. Key stakeholders are aware of this and are discussing
ways to alleviate some of this pressure, such as expanding the acute therapist model at
Lister Hospital.
A big challenge in progressing weekend discharges has been lack of availability in home
care and residential packages. Discussions have taken place on how to tackle this
challenge, for example offering incentives to care providers to take weekend discharges.
3.6 High impact change 6- Trusted Assessors
Although the Trusted Assessor High Impact Change has moved to Mature since 2017, there
are still challenges in fully embedding this approach. Within the acute there are still multiple
assessments taking place e.g. social care, community support. To address this challenge
key stakeholders met to look at opportunities on how we can work towards a more
streamlined model in Watford Hospital. It was discussed how we should be working towards
a more ward based assessment model and with new community provider Central London
Community Healthcare Trust due to take over in October 2019, it is intended that this will
enable more trusted assessments to take place.
13

Agenda Pack Page 45

Furthermore, in 2019/20 we aim to review the number of professionals carrying out trusted
assessments into single service. Currently assessments have been undertaken by in reach
teams into community hospital beds, impartial assessors into care homes, acute facilitators
into enablement care etc which has resulted in a multitude of paperwork. It is anticipated that
through reviewing this we will be able to prevent duplication, embed multi-disciplinary
working, improve patient flow and prevent the patient from telling their story more than once.
One of the current challenges with the Impartial Assessor Service is the capacity of
assessments being completed each day within the acute. We have met with HCPA to set a
target of 4 assessments a day and we are undertaking an evaluation of the service to see
what challenges the assessors face and what improvements we can make to meet or
exceed this target.
3.7 High impact change 7- Focus on Choice
One of the current challenges in embedding this High Impact change is preventing delays for
self-funders going into care homes or receiving homecare. Across Lister and Watford there
are currently services in place to support self-funders going into care homes/receiving
homecare. These services have dedicated staff as a point of contact, who can offer financial
advice and work with self-funders to enable safe and efficient discharges. During 2019/2020
the service will look to be embedded fully in current hospitals and we hope to expand the
service to Princess Alexandra Hospital through a joint funding arrangement with West Essex
CCG.
Balancing the need for safe and efficient discharges against enabling personalised care can
be challenging. We are continuing to work on this, one example being through D2A. D2A
pathways encourage staff to adopt a holistic approach and take positive risks. Via D2A
Pathway 1 and 2 we are able to support service users to maximise their independence and
return home or to their usual place of residence which in the majority of cases is their
preferred choice.
The homecare contract is currently being recommissioned and changing to be an outcomes
focused model rather than a time and task model. This should allow patients to have more
choice in the care they receive and increase capacity within the system.
3.8 High impact change 8- High Impact change 8- Enhancing Care in Care Homes (including
any changes in the context of commitments to Enhanced Care in Care Homes in the NHS
Long Term plan).
Not all our care homes currently hold a secure email which creates delays in hospitals
transferring discharge information and presents communication challenges to community
and GP staff. A project has been running to deliver NHS mail into all care homes across
Hertfordshire. This is due to end in October 2019. For care homes not in the current roll out,
resources will be available to enable them to get their own NHS mail account in the future.
Oral health nutrition and hydration has been recognised as one of the priorities for the STP,
building on the work of the Hertfordshire Malnutrition Collaboration Group. It is intended that
we will be able to develop key standards from learning and guidance from this group, which
can be shared with providers, as well as agree what training should go into care homes.
Links have also been made with the oral health team in Hertfordshire and training will be
delivered by the team through HCPA. To dip or not to dip is also continuing to be rolled out
across Hertfordshire aiming to reduce misdiagnosing of Urinary Tract Infections (UTIs).
Community support in care homes (Nursing and GPs) continues to be an area of interest.
We continue to fund within the CCGs care home Pharmacist teams. Across Hertfordshire
there is the GP aligned scheme which involves weekly ward rounds and linked nurses to
each home. In East and North Hertfordshire there is currently an evaluation of the GP and
14

Agenda Pack Page 46

community support that goes into care homes, building on the GP aligned scheme weekly
ward rounds. This includes looking nationally and piloting different ways of working, including
a care home MDT, frailty nurses for end of life care and enhanced GP ward rounds. An
evaluation is due December with a recommendation for next steps.
One of the key reasons that care home residents end up in hospital are a result of falls.
Through the BCF, HCPA have been commissioned to run a campaign focusing on falls
prevention. This has included targeting 30 care homes who have a high number of falls to
develop action plans and run exercise classes across community and care homes.
4

Hertfordshire 2019-2020 Better Care Fund Plan- Income and Expenditure

For the 2019/2020 submission, all HWB are required to provide information on income and
expenditure for the BCF. Unlike previous submission, the 2019/2020 plan requires HWB
areas to incorporate iBCF and Winter Pressures grants within the income section, in order to
remove duplication and reduce the overall reporting burden. In the expenditure section, we
are required to provide a breakdown of various schemes which are being funded through the
BCF and indicate whether they impact on BCF metrics on either a High, Medium, Low or NA
basis.
Appendices containing this information are to follow.
5

Hertfordshire 2019-2020 Better Care Fund Plan-Performance Metrics

For the 2019/2020 submission, all HWB are required to provide information on Performance
Metrics and set out their plans for working towards targets. These have been outlined below:
5.1 Non-elective admissions (General and Acute)
Please set out the plan in the HWB area for reducing NEAs (Non-elective admissions),
including any assessment of how the schemes and enabling activity for Health and
Social Care integration are expected to impact on metric
Although the target for number of non-elective admissions per 100,000 population has risen
to allow for a growing population and greater number of older and frail people, Hertfordshire
has exceeded the target number of non-elective admissions since Q4 of 2017-18. Each
CCG have developed respective plans to respond to this.
In Herts Valleys, plans for reducing NEAs include the development of Urgent Treatment
Centre (UTC) co-located at Watford General Hospital which will act as the first point of
contact for most patients. Patients will be triaged via primary care led services in the UTC
and will receive treatment where appropriate followed by referral to the most appropriate
department/service that can meet their health needs.
A coordinated UTC approach is also being developed at St Albans Minor injuries unit (MIU)
which will build on the experience of the same service provided in Hemel Hempstead at the
UTC there. In Hertsmere, work is underway with Barnet CCG to facilitate the development of
RFL plans to introduce a co-located UTC at Barnet General Hospital. Throughout the
country there is evidence that introducing an UTCs co-located with Acute Trusts reduces the
pressures on ‘majors’ departments significantly and helps reduce pressures in the
Emergency Department overall.
In tandem with the UTC developments Herts Valleys are expanding their demand
management scheme ERM (Effective Resource Management) where GP practices and
localities generate initiatives aimed at reducing attendances, admissions and high intensity
users for their practice/locality. In 2019/2020 they will be extending the scheme to include a
broader range of stakeholder providers via an ‘enhanced ERM’ where the development of
15

Agenda Pack Page 47

PCN and locality delivery plans will bring together more co-ordinated approached to demand
management across all areas.
In East and North Hertfordshire, there are a number of ongoing projects in relation to
admission avoidance. These include:






The introduction of a Heart Failure Community Service for the management of
complex/unstable heart failure patients in community clinics or through domiciliary
visits. This is expected to reduce NEL admissions through more intensive support
and patient management for unstable/complex patients.
The implementation of a revised Integrated Respiratory Service supported by the
implementation of a Spirometry Diagnostic service. This should support early
identification, correct diagnosis and support admission avoidance for those with
respiratory conditions, particularly COPD.
Developing and embedding revised First Fit seizure and MND, Gastro and
Respiratory management pathways to support the prevention of Neurological
admissions

A review is also underway in the QEII hospital, to bring the service in line with national
standards and guidance for UTCs, following a public engagement process. Patients will be
sent to the service via 111 where possible and will receive treatment where appropriate. This
will be followed by a referral to the most appropriate department/service that can meet their
health needs. It is intended that this model will help to support the pressures faced by the
Emergency department at Lister Hospital.
Across both CCG areas there is a focus on supporting Hertfordshire’s older population living
with frailty. This includes:







Incentivising GPs in East and North Herts via the CCG’s Consolidated Funding
Framework (CFF) to pro-actively identify older people living with frailty within their
practice and actively ensure care-planning is in place for these patients.
In Herts Valleys, the 3-year GP enhanced commissioning framework includes a
component to identify moderately frail patients. Payment for this is included in the GP
unified budget.
Both CCGs have implemented ‘My Plan’ a person held and owned plan, to support
person centred care and help older people living with frailty and their carers to better
manage their conditions.
The Integrated Community Team (ICT) is a diverse group of professionals working in
East and North Hertfordshire. It includes community nurses, community matrons,
physiotherapists, occupational therapists, specialist palliative care nurses, mental
health nurses and health care and rehabilitation assistants. They provide care
primarily to patients who are housebound and need to be seen in their own homes
including residential and nursing homes, working to keep people from needing to be
admitted to hospital.
EIV- Since 2017 the Early Intervention Vehicle (EIV) in East and North Hertfordshire
has effectively supported some of our most complex service users. The service aims
to keep people who are at risk of imminent crisis independent and prevent them from
needing to go into hospital. Interventions span medical and social care, assistive
equipment and technology, all of which are individually tailored, holistic, risk positive
and encompass a Connected Lives and personalised approach. In the last year
alone, 72% of people seen by the service remained in their own home. One of our
priorities for 2019/20 is to deliver EIV in West Hertfordshire. Furthermore, a new
dedicated Care Home EIV in East and North Hertfordshire is to be launched
specifically for care homes utilising the *6 line. This will support residents that may

16

Agenda Pack Page 48





have had a fall or require non-urgent medical attention, aiming to keep them out of
hospital.
Community Navigators offer social prescribing services to people living with frailty
and/or complex needs across the county. They provide support to enable people
access to a range of services such as primary and secondary NHS services,
voluntary organisations, social care and housing. The service helps to reduce
inappropriate use of NHS services and social care whilst also helping people to
access their own community.
There is continual focus to implement new preventative strategies, such as the frailty
and falls pathways. Benefits of these may not be seen immediately as they will need
time to affect large-scale outcomes such as non-elective admissions.

5.1.1 Metric targets for total number of specific acute non-elective spells per 100,000
population for 2019/2020
Performance metric

Total number of
specific acute nonelective spells per
100,000 population

2017/2018

2018/2019

2019/2020

Target

Target

Predicted

109683

112304

120701

5.2 Delayed Transfers of Care
Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for reducing Delayed Transfers of
Care to meet expectations set for your area. This should include any assessment of
how the schemes and enabling activity for Health and Social Care Integration are
expected to impact on the metric. Include in this, your agreed plan for using the
Winter Pressures grant funding to support the local health and care system to
manage demand pressures on the NHS, with reference to seasonal winter pressures.
At the end of 2018/2019 Hertfordshire faired positively compared to other Local Authorities
with an average daily bed days rating of 11.2 (other local authorities came in at 12.1). For
quarter 1 of 2019, the average no of daily DTOCs has slightly increased. A key influencer
behind this has been the availability and flow through rehabilitation pathways in the
discharge to assess model due to constrained home care capacity. We are continuing to
work in close partnership to achieve a reduction in DTOCs. One of the main ways we are
working to improve flow is through the retendering of Specialist Care at Home which is
hoped to increase Home Care Capacity.
For 2019/2020, the winter pressures grant has been allocated to a number of new schemes
which have been commissioned in order to alleviate pressures on NHS and Social care
services, particularly over the winter months. Funding has been pooled into schemes to
support Older Peoples services and a large proportion of these has been allocated to
support Out of Hospital discharge pathways. This includes reablement/ intermediate care
placements in residential and nursing homes, as well as funding to support
reablement/intermediate care in people’s own homes. For the latter funding has also been
allocated to support additional Specialist Care at Home Capacity. It is intended that through
investing additional monies into these schemes, there will be increased capacity in the care
market to accept patients being discharged from hospital which will support flow from the
acute into the community and prevent admissions. As referenced on the expenditure tab
funding has also been allocated to support specialist placements in LD, Dementia and
17

Agenda Pack Page 49

Mental Health.
A proportion of the grant has also been allocated to support additional capacity and staffing
within the system in anticipation of systems pressures over the winter period. Following the
collapse of Allied Healthcare earlier in the year, an in-house homecare agency was
established to alleviate pressures on the care market and meet demand. This new model
allows Hertfordshire County Council to have a stake in the market, providing oversight and
stability. A proportion of the Winter Pressures Grant has been allocated to support and
establish this agency and assist with business continuity planning. A final way the grant has
been used is to support the Hertfordshire Delirium Recovery Pathway. This pathway has
significantly developed since 2017 and now offers service users 4 pathway options for
discharge depending on the complexity of their delirium. The pathway intends to identify
delirium earlier and ensure care is provided in the right time, right place to meet patient’s
needs.
5.2.1 Metric targets for Delayed Transfers of Care per day (daily delays) from hospital (aged
18+) for 2019/2020
19/20
Plan

Delayed Transfers of Care
per day (daily delays) from
hospital (aged 18+)

87.0

5.3 Admissions to Residential and care homes
Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for reducing rates of admission to
residential and nursing homes for people over the age of 65, including any
assessment of how the schemes and enabling activity for Health and Social Care
Integration are expected to impact on the metric.
Since 2017, the number of permanent residential placements has increased. The first half of
2018-19 remained low but rose substantially into the second half of the year. In quarter one
of the 2019-2020 year the rate of permanent admissions per 100,000 population was 568,
against the target of 515 per 100,000 population. Lack of capacity in the home care market
is a key influencer behind the increase in short stay placements. The increasing
demographic demand including an increase in demand from former self funders means a
target of 515 has been set for 2019-20. Ensuring resource is available to offer service users
the most appropriate pathway for their needs is acknowledged by all partners in the health

18

Agenda Pack Page 50

and care system. Progress is being made to develop the capability to support people at
home from a short stay perspective.
Recommendations from the Newton consultancy work also identity this as a priority and
planning is underway to develop this further. This is taking a system approach to support at
home, shifting resources from acute and intermediate care settings, as well as working with
our care providers to deliver enabling and rehabilitative services. Current STP work around
Discharge to Assess is helping to quantify the number and usage of short stay beds across
the system to allow for further consideration as to whether more of the patients/service users
in these settings could have been supported at home with the right wrap-around, multiagency support.
5.3.1 Metric targets for Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and over) met by
admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population for 2019/2020
* Please note that the utilisation of projected population as the denominator is in direct
conflict with the logic used in ASCOF, from which this indicator is derived. ASCOF utilises
the latest population estimates. Therefore, figures have been input to match local targets set
out in the HCC Strategic plan.
Our Annual rate target for 2018/2019 was in fact 505 rather than 585. The numerator was
also 1015 rather than 1,178. As the template provided by NHSE is locked we are unable to
amend this.
18/19
Plan

19/20
Plan

Annual Rate
585

Long-term support needs of
older people (age 65 and
over) met by admission to
residential and nursing care
homes, per 100,000
population

515

Numerator
1,178

1062

Denominator

201,242

19

206,367

Agenda Pack Page 51

5.4 Effectiveness of enablement
Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for increasing the proportion of older
people who are still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into
reablement/rehabilitation, including any assessment of how the schemes and
enabling activity for Health and Social Care Integration are expected to impact on the
metric.
Performance against this target varied in over the last few years although in the first quarter
of 2019/2020 this improved slightly and is nearer the target of 86%. These low levels of
hospital readmissions suggest that the enablement support is successfully helping to prevent
escalation of patient need. For 2019/2020 there will be a continual focus on reablement
pathways following hospital discharge including Specialist Care at Home and Discharge
Home to Assess. An aim is for these services to evolve and support more clients, including
those who have intensive support needs. The work of the Hospital and Community
Navigation Service and the Link workers should also complement the statutory services,
providing wider support to help people to maintain their independence and avoid the need to
return to hospital.
5.4.1 Metric targets for proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91
days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services
*Please note that the numerator and denominator are representations of expected activity
required to achieve target based on Oct-Dec activity in 2018-19.
18/19
Plan

19/20
Plan

Annual (%)

85.1%
Proportion of older people (65
and over) who were still at
home 91 days after discharge
from hospital into reablement
/ rehabilitation services

86.0%

Numerator

383

585

450

680

Denominator

20

Agenda Pack Page 52

Appendix 15

Social Care Institute for Excellence Integration standards - I Statements
1. ‘I have access to a digital integrated care record that moves with me throughout the health
and care system. All professionals involved in my care have access to this record (with the
appropriate safeguards in place to protect my personal data).’
2. ‘If I am at risk of emergency hospital admission, I will receive the right care at the right
time to help me to manage my condition and to keep me out of hospital.’
‘If it would benefit me, I will be able to access a personal budget, giving me greater control
over the money spent on my care.’
3. ‘I receive the best possible level of care from the NHS and my local authority.’
4. ‘If I have complex health and care needs, the NHS and social care work together to
assess my care needs and agree a single plan to cover all aspects of my care.’
5. ‘I receive more care in or near my home and haven’t been to hospital for ages.’
‘My GP and my social worker or carer work with me to decide what level of care I need, and
work with all of the appropriate professionals to make sure I receive it.’
‘Areas use multidisciplinary integrated teams and make use of professional networks to
ensure high quality joined-up care is delivered in the most appropriate place seven days a
week.’
6. ‘If I go into hospital, health and social care professionals work together to make sure I’m
not here for any longer than I need.’
7. ‘If I have to make use of any part of the urgent and emergency care system, there are
both health and social care professionals on hand when I need them’

5

https://www.scie.org.uk/integrated-care/measuring-evaluating/research/standard

21

Agenda Pack Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

5
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2019 AT 10.00AM
HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (HSAB) ANNUAL
REPORT 2018/19
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services
Author:

Mary Moroney, Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
Business Manager, (Tel: 01992 556603)

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

This Annual Report is for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
and is produced as part of the Board’s statutory duty under The Care
Act 2014 and Chapter 14 of the Care & Support Guidance. It is one of
the three core statutory duties of the Safeguarding Adult Board Chair
to publish an annual report in relation to the preceding financial year,
on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Annual Report (attached at Appendix A) highlights the local
background and context for safeguarding children in Hertfordshire, it
provides some key data behind this, it explains the structure and
governance arrangements of the Board, it provides updates of the work
undertaken by the sub-groups, as well as the Boards priorities.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

The Board are invited to provide comment and feedback on the report.

Agenda Pack Page 55

1

Report signed off by
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report
Needs assessment (activity taken)

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board
Identify Board member(s)
Identify which priority/ies:
Developing well, living well.

Consultation/public involvement (activity taken or planned)
The Annual Report is published on the HSAB website.
Equality and diversity implications
The Board priorities and actions against these recognise the vulnerability and specific
needs of certain groups; these include adults who self-neglect, adults with disabilities,
adults at risk of exploitation, the growing elderly population and carers. In recognising
the changing demographic in Hertfordshire, the Board recognises the specific needs
of Adults from the Traveller community and other ethnic groups.
Acronyms or terms used. eg:
Initials
In full
HSAB
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board

Agenda Pack Page 56

2

Agenda Pack Page 57

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Adults Board
Annual Report
2018-2019
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Independent Chair, Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board –
Elizabeth Hanlon

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Agenda Pack Page 58

abuse in later life; however, it is likely that this figure is under-estimated due
to the reliance on self-reported information from people who are able
to participate in research, which excludes certain groups such as patients
with dementia.
The population of adults 65 and over in Hertfordshire is predicted to increase
by 68% over the next 25 years, which is a higher rate than younger age groups.
This is likely to increase demand on all professionals over the next 25 years.
Persistent loneliness can considerably increase a person’s risk of physical and
mental illness. Approximately 6-13% of older people in the UK report that they
are often or always lonely.

It is my pleasure to introduce the 2018/19 annual report for Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board. This report demonstrates our achievements
throughout the year. Hertfordshire can take great pride in the strength of its
partnership working. The board benefits from excellent engagement by our
partner agencies across the statutory and third sector. We have a committed
and active membership who work together to make a real difference to the
people in Hertfordshire who are most in need of our support.

We need to be as confident as we can be that the right of every adult, Including
the most vulnerable, to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect, is promoted
and protected as fully as possible.

Hertfordshire is a great place to live and work, and our job as the Safeguarding
Adults Board is to help ensure that organisations work together to both
prevent and where possible stop the risks of abuse and neglect. At the
same time we have to make sure that the wellbeing of vulnerable adults is
protected, including having proper regard to their views, wishes, feelings and
beliefs in deciding on any action to protect them from harm.

The Annual Report details how the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
has delivered on theareas of work identified as priorities for 2018-19. This is
important because it shows what the HSAB aimed to achieve and what it has
actually delivered as a partnership. The report provides a picture of who is
safeguarded in Hertfordshire, in what circumstances and why. This helps us
to focus on priorities for the future and our plans for 2019-20 are set out in
this report.

Abuse and neglect can happen to anybody, regardless of individual
characteristics, and can occur in any setting, including someone’s own home,
public place or a hospital or care home. The person causing the harm may be
a stranger, but more often than not they are usually in a position of trust or
power, such as a health or care professional, relative or neighbour. Adults at
risk of abuse or neglect are often older or have a mental health problem or
learning disability.

As part of its statutory duties, the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults
Board carried out an independent Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) and a
Partnership Case Review in 2018-19. Significant work has been undertaken
by partners to understand how agencies could work better together to
safeguard adults at risk in such circumstances. These reviews have been
published on our website and have provided us with important learning
to take forward in 2019-20.

It is widely accepted that abuse and neglect are under-reported. Academic
research has estimated that approximately 10% of older people experience
2

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Introduction
This Annual Report is for the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019 and is
produced as part of the Board’s statutory duty under The Care Act 2014 and
Chapter 14 of the Care & Support Guidance. It is one of the three core statutory
duties of the SAB Chair to publish an annual report in relation to the preceding
financial year, on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.

Agenda Pack Page 59

This Annual Report gives details of progress on our priorities and Strategic
Plan 2017-20; sets out how effective the HSAB has been over the 2018-19 year;
provides detail on the SARs that it has commissioned, and describes how its
partners have contributed to the work of the Board to promote effective adult
safeguarding.
The report will be submitted to the Local Authority Chief Executive, Leader
of theCouncil, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chair of
Hertfordshire’sHealth and Wellbeing Board.
The report provides an overview of SAB activities and achievements during
2018-19; it summarises the effectiveness of safeguarding activity in
Hertfordshire.

3

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The Purpose of the Annual Report
Agenda Pack Page 60

Adult Safeguarding was spelt out for the first time in law, in the Care Act 2014.
Local authorities were required to set up multi-agency safeguarding boards to
undertake the actions arising from the board’s strategic objectives, from the
annual Business Plan and from any Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR) and to
report on these annually, ensuring the report is available to a wide audience
including on the HSAB Web Site.

The overarching purpose of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board is to
help and safeguard adults with care and support needs and the work of the
board is supported by five sub groups and Task & Finish groups for specific
short pieces of work.

Hertfordshire Statutory Partners
at Hertfordshire
(Independent Chair, a member from Health and Community Services
a member
Groups
sioning
Commis
Clinical
County Council, a member from both
hip
of Hertfordshire Constabulary and a member from Hertfordshire Partners
University NHS Foundation Trust)

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
t Director for Health and Care
Members include: Director of Adult Care Services, HCC, HCPA, Assistan
Social Worker HCC, Probation,
Principle
Health,
Public
in
Director
t
Assistan
HCC,
at
sioning
Commis
NHS Trust, Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust, East and North Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire Fire &
Community NHS Trust, Chief Executive from Hertsmere Borough Council,
Rescue Trust

Policy and
Procedure subgroup
Chaired by Head of Social
Work and Safeguarding at
Hertfordshire Partnership
Foundation Trust (HPFT)

Joint Learning
& Development
subgroup
Chaired Designated Nurse
Safeguarding /Looked After
Children and Care Leavers
East & North Herts and Herts
Valleys CCG’s.

Public
Engagement subgroup
Chaired by Safeguarding clinical
nurse specialist WHHT

4

SQUIG
(Strategic Quality Improvement Group)
Chaired by Head of Adult Safeguarding East & North Herts
and Herts Valley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

Performance
subgroup
Chaired by Head of Adult
Safeguarding at Hertfordshire
County Council (HCC)

Safeguarding Adults
Review (SAR) subgroup
Chaired by Head of Adult
Safeguarding East & North
Herts and Herts Valley Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

This is the fifth annual report of the HSAB since the Care Act 2014 and in this
report we will consider how the HSAB is:

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Our Business Plan outlines how HSAB will seek to prevent abuse and neglect
and how it will help and protect adults at risk. It covers the actions required
by HSAB and each of its partner agencies to implement our strategies and will
also inform the local community and all interested groups about the work of
HSAB. The Business plan is a proposal to support our vision for safeguarding
adults in Hertfordshire over the next year.

• assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as
defined by the Care Act 2014 and statutory guidance;
• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and
outcome-focused;
• working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible;
• ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate responses
when abuse or neglect have occurred;
• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and
enhancing the quality of life of adults in Hertfordshire.

Agenda Pack Page 61

Both our Business Plan for 2019-2020 and previous Annual Reports can be
found here.
The HSAB vision is that all adults at risk live and work, are cared for and
supported in an environment free from abuse, harassment, violence or
aggression. HSAB’s mission is to work in partnership to ensure that
Hertfordshire is a safe place to work and live for all adults at risk and to assure
that people who have care & support needs are empowered to speak out and
make informed choices, are kept safe from abuse or neglect and that where
abuse has taken place, agencies act together, swiftly and competently.

The work of the Board and Sub Groups is underpinned by the six
safeguarding principles:

As always, we welcome any comments on the content or format of this report
to inform the development of future reports to ensure they are relevant,
informative and accessible to the citizens of Hertfordshire as well as the
agencies/constituencies directly involved in the day-to-day work of supporting
those adults who experience or are at risk of experiencing abuse or neglect.

• Empowerment: people being supported and encouraged to make
their own decisions and give informed consent;
• Prevention: it is better to take action before harm occurs;
• Proportionality: the least intrusive response appropriate to the risk
presented;
• Protection: support and representation for those in greatest need;
• Partnership: local solutions through services working with their
communities – communities have a part to play in preventing,
detecting and reporting neglect and abuse;
• Accountability and transparency in safeguarding practice.

If you would like this document in large print, Braille, audio formats or require
it in languages other than English please contact the Safeguarding Business
Unit on 01992 588757.
NB Do not use this number for safeguarding concerns – the contact number
is 0300 123 4042. You can keep up to date with HSAB by following us on
Twitter @HertsSab
5

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Introduction

Achievements

What’s next?

So What Have We Achieved?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The HSAB has during the course of 2018-19 endeavoured to ensure that
agencies are held to account with regard to partnership working, including
governance and leadership.

Agenda Pack Page 62

Priority 1

The Board have has built on initiatives begun in 2017-18 to develop a more
in depth quality assurance function. The performance sub-group have
continued to analyses detailed performance information to support the
functions of the Board.

To be assured by partner agencies that there is effective leadership,
partnership working and governance for safeguarding adults; holding
partners and agencies to account.

Performance management is integral to the work of the HSAB. The Board
has a responsibility to ensure the effectiveness of adult safeguarding
practices and interagency working.
Effective
Governance

Effective
Leadership

Safeguarding Adults
in Hertfordshire

6

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The HSAB commissioned an intelligence analysis which was presented to the Board in June 2018.
This in-depth review provided the Board with some recommendations:
Progress So Far

To develop a countywide communication strategy to raise
awareness of abuse and neglect and ultimately increase
reporting, with a particular focus on engaging with elderly
residents in their own homes and encouraging reports from
BME and LGBTQ communities.

The HSAB are running two significant campaigns. Firstly, linking to World Elder Abuse Awareness Day
(15th June). This campaign focusing on elderly people has been developed across three strands:

Agenda Pack Page 63

Recommendation

The elderly population in Herts – via various channels – district councils, Crimewatch, health trusts,
age concern Herts, Health watch plus voluntary and faith groups. We are targeting clubs and other
social outlets. The campaign also is targeting the general public with social media to support this.
Finally, professionals are being targeted by partners holding events across the County – stalls and other
promotional activities. The Board will be supporting as many external events as possible including events
held by Health watch and Age Concern Herts.

For local care services, including domiciliary care, to ensure that
they have sufficient whistle-blowing procedures and detection
strategies in place to increase reporting for individuals that
experience abuse in their own home and other care settings.

The HSAB have sought assurances from partners around their whistle blowing procedures and this has
been an item that has been discussed at Board level and is reflected in the business plan. The HSAB are
currently assured that such procedures are sufficiently embedded.

The HSAB will be running a full campaign on raising awareness of adult abuse and neglect in
Hertfordshire. The strategy for this campaign will be inclusive of all Hertfordshire’s communities and will
encourage reporting from BME and LGBTQ communities. This campaign will be launched during the
Autumn of 2019.
A formal communications strategy is available on the HSAB website.

7

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Progress So Far

To incorporate hate crime awareness training into the HSAB
training framework.

Hate crime awareness training is now part of the HSAB work plan for learning and development.
The HSAB Annual conference in 2018 had a performance from the Blue Apple Theatre company on the
theme of hate and mate crime. In addition, members of the Learning and Development sub-group are
now meeting with colleagues in the constabulary to discuss accessing awareness opportunities that can
be shared across the partnership.

For organisations to ensure that front line adult social care staff
are routinely trained on wider aspects of adult safeguarding,
including the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA), Deprivation
of Liberty Service (DOLS), to increase opportunities for early
intervention and prevention.

An online questionnaire is being completed by members of the partnership which asks for assurance
around staff training on adults safeguarding. The survey will be analysed, and the findings presented
back via the Learning and development group to Board in September. This will provide assurance and an
opportunity for challenge by Board members. In addition, a further follow up with partners around wider
training assurances including MCA and DOLS training will be run this financial year. The Board although
unable to offer training opportunities on these areas will be including a forum event this year on changes
to the Mental Capacity Act.

For organisations to routinely provide follow-up communication
to clients after cases have been closed to improve client
satisfaction and help victims feel safer.

An online questionnaire is being completed by members of the partnership which asks for assurance
around staff training on adults safeguarding. The survey will be analysed, and the findings presented
back via the Learning and development group to Board in September. This will provide assurance and an
opportunity for challenge by Board members. In addition, a further follow up with partners around wider
training assurances including MCA and DOLS training will be run this financial year. The Board although
unable to offer training opportunities on these areas will be including a forum event this year on changes
to the Mental Capacity Act.

Agenda Pack Page 64

Recommendation

8

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

The performance sub-group has continued to provide the Board with items
for discussion and focus during 2018-19. In March 2019 the HSAB joined with
HSCP to look at joint reporting on key issues particularly around contextual
safeguarding. This included shared information on domestic abuse, modern
slavery. Breakdowns by district are now readily available and the interactive
dashboard has been developed for partners.

Appendix

Essential
Information

Agenda Pack Page 65

• Section A: Leadership, Strategy and Governance.
• Section B: Workforce, Organisational culture and Learning.
• Section C: The organisation’s approach to workforce issues reflects a 		
commitment to safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of
adults at risk.
• Section D: Effective multi-agency working to safeguard and promote the
wellbeing of adults at risk.
• Section E: Key Practice Areas (Da, Prevent, Self Neglect, Hoarding)
• Section F: The service can demonstrate that people who use services 		
are informed about safeguarding adults and empowered within
		the organisation’s responses to it.

There is now a much improved strategic approach to
self-neglect, there are positive examples of multi-agency
working, and there is a much better and clearer pathway
to support agencies to work together both outside of
Safeguarding Adults procedures and to step up into a
Care Act section 42 Safeguarding Adult enquiry. There was
also clear evidence of good and appropriate signposting for
solutions to both statutory and non-statutory agencies.

The self-assessments were carried out by all 10 Districts and all board
member partner agencies. A decision was made that Health would not be
involved in this process as a similar rigorous process already takes place and is
reported annually to the board.

It was also evident that other agencies such as the police
and probation tackled situations with sensitivity and respect
when involved.

”

Glossary and
Acronyms

The Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board made the decision in 2017/18
that they would ask members of the board to carry out self-assessment’s
within their organisations in relation to the way they are prioritising
adults in need of care and support. The process involved each agency filling
out a self-assessment questionnaire which was then followed up by a personal
visit by the Independent Chair of the HSAB and the safeguarding lead from the
CCG’s, to talk them through the assessment. The self-assessment was divided
in to six sections:

The Board’s focus on Self-Neglect has continued during 18-19. In order to
assure that the guidance developed on Self-Neglect has been embedded in
organisations, the Board conducted a multi-agency audit. The action plan will
be developed and worked on during 2019-20 – below a couple of key findings:

“

Sub-group
Reports

9

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Agenda Pack Page 66

The findings of the assessments were reported back to the agencies,
including recommendations for future developments. These recommendations
were then turned into action plans which are monitored by the board.
Findings this year showed a significant improvement in corporate ownership of
adult safeguarding. There was also an increased level of training being offered
by agencies, particularly around prevent and general safeguarding awareness.
Areas of good practice through the agencies were also identified with
safeguarding both children and adults identified as a priority. Some of the
themes arising from these visits include:
• Examples of good practice – clear procedures, DBS checks in place,
key staff trained in adult safeguarding, executive leadership cited on
safeguarding
• Recommendations include: provision of training on Mental Capacity Act for
key staff, monitoring of provider contracts regarding safeguarding policies
and embedding HSAB policies and guidance.
To further embed the self-assessment process the HSAB is planning to put
together a panel for staff to come and present their work plans arising from
the assessment process. This will give the Board further assurance that the
recommendations are being taken forward.
Making Safeguarding Personal continues to be a priority for the Board.
The findings of the audit conducted in 2017 have been completed.

10

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Introduction

Achievements

Sub-group
Reports

What’s next?

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Recommendations and Actions from.
The Making Safeguarding Personal Audit.

Agenda Pack Page 67

Share Survey Findings
and Outcomes

Incorporate MSP into
Multi-Agency Training

Develop an ‘Understanding
Capacity Fact Sheet’ for relatives,
carers and friends

An Infographic was distributed in 2017.
Findings have also been included in Safeguarding
Awareness Multi-agency Training.

MSP has been included in
the commissioned Safeguarding Adults
Course. Subsequently this has been quality
assured by the Board.

The fact sheet has been created in
an easy read format and linked to other
materials – it can be found on our
website insert link here.

Ensure access to information on
‘Understanding Stronger Protective Networks’
is available across the partnership.

Link with the Domestic Abuse Partnership
to ensure Adults with Care and Support Needs are
established in their work plan and campaigns.

A link to Connected Lives via website
has been shared with practitioners.

The joint partnership learning and development
sub-group is now in place which brings to together
multi-agency training initiatives across Adults and
Children and prioritises Domestic Abuse.

11

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Introduction

Achievements

What’s next?

Priority 2

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

It is a requirement of the Care Act 2014 that the details of any Safeguarding
Adults Reviews (SARs) conducted during the year must be in the SAB Annual
Report. It is the responsibility of the SAB Chair to decide whether or not a
death or serious incident should be the subject of an SAR, which would involve
commissioning an independent review and publishing a full report written by
an author recruited for the purpose.

Agenda Pack Page 68

To identify, and monitor the implementation of changes that help to prevent
similar abuse or neglect happening to others.

HSAB Learning Bulletin: Case Study

Monitor
Changes
that prevent
abuse

The subject of this learning review was a young man who died at age 29.
At the point of death he was extremely underweight, had a documented
alcohol addiction and was self-neglecting. The HSAB felt that although
the case didn’t meet the criteria for a safeguarding adult review there
was evidence of good practice which could be explored and shared plus
the opportunity to identify areas for improvement.

Identify
changes
to prevent
abuse

Pen Picture
• X was a young man with a learning disability who over a period of
years suffered with an alcohol addiction. This resulted in self-neglect
to a point where he could no longer go upstairs and slept on a sofa
downstairs. There was also previous domestic abuse within the family.
• A Safeguarding concern was raised by the District Nursing team
and they liaised closely with the social care worker and chair of the
Safeguarding meeting prior to a hospital admission.
• On admission the patient was found to weigh only approx. 35kg, there
was evidence of self-neglect, reduced mobility, multiple pressure ulcers
and he had been suffering from a flu like illness for previous 3 days.
• A couple of days after admission he was transferred to Intensive Care
Unit, where he deteriorated over night and died.

Safegarding Adults
In Hertfordshire

12

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

What has the HSAB done?

• There had been a lot of agencies involved in the case and they had all
worked really hard to support X.
• The agencies had been talking to each other. The agencies had cooperated
with each other to gain access to X.
• Both Social Care and HPFT kept trying to engage with the family over a long
period of time and kept cases open to try to encourage engagement.
• There was documented persistence of an Occupational Therapist (HCT) to
arrange appointments despite the difficulties in contacting the family.
The case had not been closed due to no contact.
• Once the OT (from Hertfordshire Community Trust) had made contact with
the family they took other health professionals along with them to ensure
access to the family.

• There is now a HSAB multi-agency complex case guide for professionals,
which gives advice and guidance on using multi-agency meetings to
manage cases.
• This guide also helps identify a lead professional and gives a clear template
for running a multi-agency meeting
• The HSAB has also issued a comprehensive guide to managing selfneglect cases
• Both these guides will be reviewed to ensure family dynamics are reviewed
by professionals

Agenda Pack Page 69

Examples of Good Practice

Find HSAB resources at https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/
adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/hertfordshiresafeguarding-adults-board/hertfordshire-safeguarding-adults-board.aspx:
Under HSAB Practice

Learnings and Resources
• A Multidisciplinary Team meeting could have been held earlier and the
family could have been involved in the meeting.
• The larger family dynamics could possibly have been addressed differently.
• Better co-ordination between agencies could have saved time and
resources.
• There was no clear lead agency.

13

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

A Partnership Case Review

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

1. That NHS England remind all NHS Mental Health Services of the
importance of information sharing, within the confines of the Caldicott
Principles and associated guidelines, when high risk patients move or
are transferred between NHS administrative areas.

Agenda Pack Page 70

In October 2018, the HSAB published a multi-agency partnership review which
arose from the murder of Ms M, a twenty-three year old woman in December
2015 and the subsequent conviction of Mr O, a twenty-six year old male for
that murder. Ms M lived with her parents at the family home located within
the administrative boundaries of the Epping Forest District Community Safety
Partnership (EFCSP). In December 2015, Ms M met Mr O, whom she had met
through an Internet dating site, face to face for the first time. They met at a
bar in East London, following which they took a taxi to a hotel in Hertfordshire,
where he subsequently murdered her.

• Recommendation discussed and accepted at the National Independent
Investigation Governance Committee on the 13 December 2018.
The Regional Chief Nurse London Region and Chairman of the
committee will write to the Royal College of General Practitioners
and NHS England Medical Directors to reinforce the message of the
importance of appropriate information sharing when high risk patients
move between areas

Given the complexity of the case and that a number of agencies had been in
contact with Mr O over an extensive period of time before he committed the
murder, the Chief Constable of the Hertfordshire Constabulary, under the
auspices of the Memorandum of Understanding, proposed a multi-agency
review. However, since the case did not meet the criteria for a Domestic
Homicide Review nor the criteria for a Safeguarding Adult Review, the
decision was taken to establish a multi-agency partnership review, to include
an independent investigation commissioned by NHS England, in order to
determine the circumstances leading to the murder of Ms M and identify
what lessons, if any, the various agencies might learn, either individually or
collectively, from this tragic event.

2. That Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust and
Avon and Wiltshire NHS Trust should review and revise discharge
procedures so that when a patient who is considered to present a
potential significant physical risk to the public is discharged back into the
community, the local police constabulary is informed of that discharge,
with the details of the potential risk. Procedures to be shared with NHS
England for dissemination of wider learning.
• Procedures reviewed, updated and disseminated

14

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

3. That the National Probation Service provide guidance to all relevant staff
in respect of the application of Mental Health Treatment Requirements
with particular emphasis on the importance of timely contact with local
Mental Health Services following sentencing.

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

4. That the National Probation Service, in conjunction with local Mental
Health Services, develop new or update existing protocols for the
implementation of Mental Health Treatment Requirements to include,
in particular, clarity around implementation timescales and agency
responsibilities.

Completed Actions:
• Local Mental Health Treatment Requirements (MHRT) audit tool
commissioned in August 2017. Two audits of all current cases with a
MHTR completed (October 2017 & January 2018). January audit included
mirror analysis from Health professionals of the same cases.
• Hertfordshire Court staff were briefed and issued with MHTR guidance
in January 2018 with specific focus on the process for recommending
MHTRs
• All Hertfordshire National Probation Service staff issued with Mental
Health Facts and Questions local good practice guidance

• Guidance reviewed, updated and disseminated by National
Probation Service

Agenda Pack Page 71

5. That Police Constabularies should take steps to ensure that when an
individual diagnosed as suffering from mental health issues is released
under investigation or bailed to reside in another constabulary area,
the receiving constabulary is notified and provided with all appropriate
information.
• Extensive training has been undertaken in custody to ensure the
pre-release assessment is completed by the officer in the case and
signed off by the custody sergeant. This is a mandated process endorsed
on the custody record holding officers to account. There is also two tier
quality assurance process post release to ensure that this has been
complied with.
• NPCC Mental Health Lead has been sent the independent report which
has now been disseminated nationally.

Ongoing Actions:
• Continuation of MHTR audits, to be completed by operational staff rather
than managers.
• Influence the national guidance to ensure that once someone is
sentenced to a MHTR in Court they are able to leave with their first
appointment with both the OM and the responsible clinician.
• Provide training to all National Probation Service staff responsible
for the proposal and delivery of MHTRs. Training will be completed by
December 2018 and will be led by the Senior Probation Officer who
leads for Mental Health and Criminal Justice and forensic Mental Health
Workers from Hertfordshire Forensic Team.

15

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

6. That HPFT, the Hertfordshire Constabulary and the Probation Service,
through the auspices of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board,
develop and implement a programme of joint training to better inform
relevant officers of the complex interactions between mental health
services and the criminal justice system.

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

As at the end of March 2018 there are currently one Safeguarding Adult Review
in progress and two partnership case reviews which should all be completed
during 2019-20.

Agenda Pack Page 72

• Hertfordshire is currently the only County to hold an MDO panel of its
kind. Whilst other areas utilise liaison and diversion schemes this is only
part of what the Herts MDO Panel do. The Herts MDO panel flags up
potential Mental Health needs for all offenders referred and discussed.
This is recorded on police, health and probation systems.
• Historically the NHS England/NPS OPD Pathway team has delivered
Mental Health training to Hertfordshire Police and this will be repeated
to include HPFT and NPS staff via a whole systems approach to
managing Mental Health.

LEARNING

7. That in conjunction with the Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group,
deliverers of primary care services be informed of the need to share
essential patient clinical information with other health service providers,
in accordance with the Caldicott Principles and existing information
sharing protocols and guidelines.
• Training program with GPs is in place around sharing clinical
information where appropriate. Quarterly newsletters go to GPs which
cover information sharing. A professional website within CCG which
includes information sharing is available

16

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Introduction

Achievements

What’s next?

Priority 3

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Making Safeguarding Personal sits firmly within the Department of Health
(DH) Care and Support Statutory Guidance, as revised in 2017 that supports
implementation of the Care Act (2014).

To listen to people who have experienced abuse or neglect, and to seek
assurance that people are able to be supported in the way that has been
identified and agreed with the adult at the centre of the safeguarding
process, that they are empowered to make decisions, and can achieve the
outcomes they want.

Agenda Pack Page 73

It means safeguarding adults:
• is person-led
• is outcome-focused
• engages the person and enhances involvement, choice and control
• improves quality of life, wellbeing and safety (paragraph 14.15)1
Making Safeguarding Personal must not simply be seen in the context of
a formal safeguarding enquiry (Care Act, 2014, Section 42 enquiry2), but
also in the whole spectrum of activity. The HSAB remains fully committed
to engagement with service users and other stakeholders so that they are
empowered to make decisions.
The Local Government publication ‘Making Safeguarding Personal: Support
for safeguarding adults boards’ outlines the expectations on SAB.

Achieve
Outcomes

• Empower, engage and inform people so that they can resolve and prevent
abuse and neglect in their own lives, and build their resilience.
• Maintain a focus on capacity in the voluntary and community sectors where
there is significant scope for supporting prevention of abuse and neglect,
and early intervention.
• Support partner organisations in making the links between Making
Safeguarding Personal and effective prevention, for example, challenging
board partners to identify and address issues of social isolation to prevent
future risk of harm.
• •Engage providers and commissioners in making the relevant links
between service quality and prevention and the role of Making
Safeguarding Personal within this.

Listen to
people

Safegarding Adults
In Hertfordshire

17

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Agenda Pack Page 74

The HSAB have during 2018 linked in with the World Elder Abuse Awareness
Campaign on 15th June to highlight to local communities the importance of
this issue, how to spot the signs and where to contact for further information
and advice or make a referral.
The Board has worked with Carers in Hertfordshire to incorporate some
safeguarding questions into their annual questionnaire to carers.
The results of the survey can be found on the Caring in Hertfordshire Website
https://www.carersinherts.org.uk/have-your-say/consultation-responses/
the-state-of-caring-in-hertfordshire-2018-survey-findings

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Essential
Information

Appendix

Scenario

Contact Information

If you or the person you care
for feels
unsafe now.

Police 999 for an emergency
Police 101 to report less urgent crime
0300 123 4042 for Hertfordshire County
Council’s Adult Care Services and
0300 123 4043 for Children’s Services

If you are worried,feeling
frustrated or feel there will be
a safety issue in the future.

‘Our State of Caring in Hertfordshire Survey showed that some carers did
not feel safe in their caring role. Only 56% of the 1,434 carers that responded
to the Survey said they had never felt unsafe due to their caring situation.
In response to this, carers have been working with us, Hertfordshire County
Council and local health services to consider how to make carers feel safer in
their caring role. A Keeping Safe Traffic Light has been produced that contains
details about the organisations that provide assistance or support, their
contact details and when to contact them.

Adult Care Services
0300 123 4042
Carers in Hertfordshire
01992 586969
Hertfordshire Domestic Abuse
Helpline 08 088 088 088
Samaritans:
116 123

The Traffic Light has a red level for issues requiring immediate action, the
amber layer is related to concerns and the green level has actions and contact
details for organisations to help prevent a crisis.’

If you want to build up
resilience and find out how
to cope with changes to your
caring role and relationships.

Carers in Hertfordshire
01992 58 69 69
HertsHelp:
0300 123 4044
Relate:
0300 003 2324
Your GP

18

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

The Board will continue during 2019-20 to be part of the carers group looking
at ‘Keeping Carers Safe’, will link to any identified campaigns and work with
Carers in Hertfordshire to share any relevant resources.

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

A Participant said:

The Board has also reviewed publicity materials which can be used by the
voluntary and community sector to raise awareness and these are available
on the HSAB website. The Chair of the Board also uses opportunities at
Board and statutory partners meetings to challenge partners around
making links between Marking Safeguarding Personal and prevention.
Various discussions have been had at Board level, the policy and procedure
group check all new documents to ensure MSP is at the heart of what is
being produced by the HSAB.

Agenda Pack Page 75

Attending the course
has given me a greater
understanding of the issues
surrounding GRT group, and
will aid in the development of
local policy to better support
the group.

Learnings from Adult Safeguarding Reviews are shared both within
organisations and by the Board. The audit conducted into self-neglect cases
also referred to Making Safeguarding Personal within it’s terms of reference,
the full report is currently being compiled. A Safeguarding Forum took place
in December 2018 which gave partners the opportunity to come together in a
multi-agency setting to hear key note speakers on safeguarding in the Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller communities. This unique opportunity lead by GATE (Gypsy
and Traveller Empowerment - Hertfordshire) gave delegates the chance to
learn from case studies and discussions.
The HSAB received positive feedback for the event and will run similar events
in the future.

19

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Introduction

Achievements

What’s next?

Priority 4

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The Public Engagement sub-group of the Board leads the work around raising
awareness of adult safeguarding. The group’s public engagement strategy
which outlines the Board’s aims and objectives can be found on the HSAB
website.

Agenda Pack Page 76

To promote safeguarding adults among the general public, by raising
awareness and promoting well-being with the aim of preventing abuse
and neglect.

The group had the following focus during 2018-19:
The further development of literature to support the Board priorities –
including an Easy Read Safeguarding Leaflet, Having Difficult Conversations
Guide with case studies, Understanding Capacity Guide and the Fire and
Rescue – Easy Read Guide.

Prevent
Abuse

The review of the content of the app ‘Safeguarding Adults from Abuse’
has recently started and will be completed during 19-20. The app contains
sections on: ‘Definitions of Adults at risk; Categories of Abuse; Recognising
Abuse; Reporting a Concern and Making Safeguarding Personal. The app was
developed for guidance and is in an easy to use format. Work is ongoing on
making the ‘App’ available for desk top users.

Promote
Awareness

The group ran a general safeguarding adult’s awareness campaign in October.
Awareness raising was done via FaceBook and Press releases were developed.
The campaign will run again in 2019-20 with a greater media input.
Safegarding Adults
In Hertfordshire

As mentioned above a targeted piece of work was also undertaken in relation
to Carers. The Board wanted to find out whether carers felt safe so in
partnership with Carers in Herts a couple of questions were pulled together
which were added to the survey run by Carers in Herts. Findings from this
questionnaire were generally positive, however the Board had identified that
some of the responses indicated that there is some work to be done
explaining the purpose of safeguarding to carers and reassuring them
that it is a process to help them not something that should worry them.
20

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The traffic light guide developed by Carers in Hertfordshire has been widely
dissimilated via their newsletter and the public engagement sub-group will
request regularly updates on this work stream during 2019-20.

Agenda Pack Page 77

The public engagement sub-group of the Board has been re-aligned during
2018-19. This was done to ensure a more productive approach to the work
of the group. Each significant piece of work will now be overseen by the
sub-group with the work being carried out through a task and finish group
model. The first campaign which will work in this way will be the World
Elder Abuse Awareness Day (in June 2019). The group intend to also run
a significant campaign on Raising Awareness of Adult Abuse.
The group will also input into the newly established Joint communications
group, currently chaired by the Constabulary and aim to work with other
partnerships to share resources and support key campaign indicatives
across the County.

21

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Priority 5

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Previous to 2017-18 the HSAB had no specific training offer for members of
the partnership. A training needs analysis was undertaken by the Chair of the
Learning and Development sub-group which identified the need for some key
multi-agency training to be developed to meet the needs of the partnership.
The Board has agreed funds to support a multidisciplinary training
programme for staff working with adults at risk of abuse and initial priorities
have been agreed to include a ‘train the trainer’ programme.

Agenda Pack Page 78

To promote effective training and development in Safeguarding Adults,
ensuring that there is a quality improvement approach to workforce practice.

The following courses have been delivered during 2018-19:
Ensure
a quality
improvement
approach

Safeguarding Adult Awareness (x4): a full day course for partners to come
together in a multi-agency environment. The course outcomes include:
• To develop or refresh awareness of what to do when we suspect or know
an adult is being abused;
• To identify the different kinds of abuse, signs and symptoms identified
in safeguarding adults guidance, including emerging issues such as
self-neglect, exploitation and modern slavery;
• To have an understanding of relevant legislation and national and local
guidance related to safeguarding adults, with particularly reference to the
duties identified in the Care Act 2014 and Making Safeguarding Personal;
• To consider recent developments in learning around specific safeguarding
adult issues arising from local and national reviews;
• To understand the processes of assessment, planning and review for
vulnerable adults and your agency’s possible involvement;
• To recognise the importance of working together in a multiagency
approach.

Promote
effective
traing and
development
Safegarding Adults
In Hertfordshire

22

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Feedback courses has been positive, with practitioners commenting on the
usefulness of the multiagency discussions.

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The final course initially identified was Fire Safety; this is delivered by
colleagues
in the Fire and Rescue service. The course aims to help participants:

This course was fantastic and gave me a greater understanding of
identifying risk as well as what action to take at each stage.

• Identify & understand the factors that increase the fire risk to vulnerable
persons;
• Know how to make referrals to the Fire & Rescue Service;
• Understand the services the Fire & Rescue Service can provide to
the vulnerable.

Learnt lots of valuable information including recommendations coming
out of recent reviews such as the Stanley review.

Agenda Pack Page 79

The networking opportunities and examples given by colleagues were
very informative.

Having attended the Fire Safety training, I feel that I now have an
increased awareness of the risks that could potentially occur within my
workplace, and I now have the confidence to challenge colleagues in
regards to these.

This course was thought provoking and made me think more about my
practice and how to address different situations.

The Board has also run courses on Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
(x4). This was delivered by the Police. The Operation Tropic lite bite is
designed to give an overview of Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery
with a Hertfordshire focus on cases and the complex investigations that may
then follow.

All HSAB courses are aimed at a multi-agency audience in order to give
practitioners the extra learning opportunities that such forums provide.
A train the trainer course was commissioned for 2018-19 which will give those
professionals who already train within their own organisations and are subject
experts some extra skills in delivering their sessions.

The course was extremely informative and has enabled me to have to
confidence to identify signs of modern slavery in my role as a family
intervention worker

As required by the Care Act, the Learning and Development sub-group
have put together a Training and Workforce Development Strategy. This is
a document which offers guidance to partner agencies around the type of
training that should be undertaken by different job roles. The Aim of the
Workforce Training Strategy is to provide guidance on the recommended:

I feel confident to recognise indicators and also to support victims
appropriately.

• Minimum requirements for safeguarding education and training
• Learning outcomes expected at each level of education and training
23

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

‘Really informative and gave me more confidence to make decisions based
on a person centred approach.

It is the responsibility of each organisation to assess the level of safeguarding
adults training required within their organisation, and it is recognised that
organisations will have in a place a policy which clearly specifies the level
of safeguarding education required for all the various roles within their
organisation. This guidance document does not address the additional
educational requirements required by professionals to maintain their
professional registration.

Agenda Pack Page 80

It reiterated the message of listening and talking to the adult first, take your
time with them to understand how they feel with regards to the situation.
Better understanding of the impact hate crime has on vulnerable adults and
will seek other ways of resolving the issues if no criminal acts involved.

The assessment of competencies should be a mix of direct observation of
practice as well as a process of exploration, discussion and questioning
in supervision and appraisal meetings to develop analytical and evaluative
thinking developing professional judgement. The competencies build upon the
knowledge gained in the previous level.

I will frame risk taking or risk behaviours against personal choice’
The HSAB also ran two multidisciplinary Safeguarding Adult Forums during
2018-19. The topics this year were: Domestic Abuse – Coercion and Control
and Working with the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Community. These events are
smaller than conferences and give participants the opportunity to use case
studies to consolidate the learning from speakers. The HSAB will continue
to run these events during 2019-20, the first one being on Learnings from
Domestic Homicide Reviews.

Alongside individual agencies learning and development requirements,
the Safeguarding Board may offer additional multi-agency learning and
development opportunities that would contribute to annual updates.
The full document can be found on the HSAB website:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/adultsocial-services/herts-safeguarding-adults-board/hsab-information-forprofessionals/workforce-strategy-final-2018.pdf

‘It is has deepened my understanding of coercion and controlling
behaviours and given me a good understanding of how to manage concerns
which may arise both professionally and personally.
Able to advise others of what to look for and how to deal with situations in
my role as designated safeguarding lead’

The HSAB hosted a Safeguarding Adults conference in June 2018 to coincide
with World Elder Abuse Awareness Day with a focus on Making Safeguarding
Personal. A wide range of professionals attended from various disciplines,
heard speakers and took part in workshop activities around the key priorities.
In addition there was a performance from the Blue Apple Theatre Feedback
from the conference was very well received and the HSAB will go on to run
another conference in June 2019 on the topic of Safeguarding People with
Learning Disabilities.

‘Better understanding of the barriers faced by G&T community. Having a
insight to some of the traditions.
Make me more aware around the culture and how to engage better
with the community’
24

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

The guide highlights the fact that all agencies that mainly serve adult service
users must consider, when deciding if an individual meets their threshold for a
service, the possible impact on the individual of any caring responsibilities
for children and whether they have the capacity to meet these, and the
potential impact on a child who is the carer of an adult receiving services.
If a member of staff working with adults has concern that a child may be
at risk of or suffering abuse or exploitation, then they should refer to the
Children’s Services.

The Board also hosted two significant launch events, firstly on Self-Neglect
and Hoarding. This brought together front-line practitioners from across the
partnership to hear about the new guidance that had been devised and signed
up to by senior leaders. The morning gave an opportunity for participants, to
listen to experts in the field and feedback what they could pledge to do within
their own organisations around self-neglect and hoarding.

Agenda Pack Page 81

The guide looks at certain groups including
• Those in transition
• Pregnant women and unborn children
• Young Carers
A full copy of the guidance can be found here:
https://preview-hcc.cloud.contensis.com/media-library/documents/adultsocial-services/herts-safeguarding-adults-board/hsab-information-forprofessionals/see-the-adult-and-child-guidance.pdf
Work has also started with the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children’s
Partnership and the Domestic Abuse Partnership to develop and deliver
shared programmes of learning. The key priorities being developed during
2019-20 are a domestic abuse awareness, hate crime, modern slavery and
skills based training.

The second big launch was for the ‘See the Adult; See the Child’ guidance.
This guide written in conjunction with the children’s Board is to ensure
effective and timely referrals between all adult and children’s services,
including the transition between children’s and adults’ services and to
promote good practice in multi-agency working. This guidance respects an
adult at risk’s right to live free from abuse with dignity, autonomy, privacy
and equity.

25

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

What’s next?
Agenda Pack Page 82

Learning and Development Plans
•

The HSAB will continue to develop the Learning and Development offer during
2019-20. This will include:
• Continuing to offer multi-agency face to face courses on Adult
Safeguarding Awareness
• Development of learning opportunities around : Self-Neglect, Mental
Capacity and Hate Crime
• Develop systems for monitoring longer term outcomes from training
• Running Safeguarding Forums on Key themes throughout the year
• Running a conference in June 2019 on Safeguarding People with Learning
Disabilities
• Embedding the Workforce Strategy amongst partner organisations
• Challenging agencies on the training and learning opportunities provided
within their organisations

•

•

•
•

Joint Working with HSCB and other Strategic Partnerships

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

feedback from front line practitioners across Hertfordshire and so the
partnerships can feed these into strategic planning. The HSAB will take part
in the Learning Hub planned on transitional safeguarding in January 2020.
(See Appendix 2 for outcomes infographic)
Learning and Development sub-group: the joint group is now operational
and the work streams are now in place to deliver key joined up events and
learning opportunities during 2019-20. As well as the Learning hubs, this
will include the development of a specific course on exploitation, so that any
cross-over in learning can be shared throughout both partnerships.
Learnings from Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Serious Case Reviews
and Domestic Homicide reviews are being pulled together to produce a
coordinated approach to the dissemination of learning from such reviews.
Campaigns: The HSAB is now a member of a joint communications and
campaigns group with the other key strategic boards. This will enable the
HSAB to feed into planned campaigns where it is appropriate and avoid
duplication. One of the key areas identified is to improve awareness of
honour based violence
Policy: Where appropriate joint policies will be written which cover both
Boards agendas e.g. a recent policy on See the Adult See the Child
Performance Data: Again where appropriate the HSAB and HSCP will
identify areas where a ‘deep dive’ into data would benefit both Boards.

More than ever there is a need for partners to have a joint approach to many
key priorities. The HSAB has identified the following areas where joint
approaches will be beneficial to all practitioners:
• Learning Events (hubs): These have been developed by the Children’s
Partnership and the HSAB will join with these events over the coming
year where the topics are appropriate. The first on Gangs and Knife Crime
supporting the Serious and violent crime work stream took place in the
final quarter of 2018. The aim of these hubs is to gain insight from the
26

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

New Policies and Guidance

Serious and Violent Crime

There has been a lot of concentrated work during 2017-18 on policy and
guidance initiatives which have been launched during 2018-19.

An ongoing work-stream is the multi-agency Serious and Violent Crime
Strategy. During 2019-20 the board will continue to work with all the other
key partnerships across Hertfordshire to deliver a strategic approach to
this emerging issue. The following points outline the HSAB’s focus for the
coming year:

• As a recommendation from a recent Self-Neglect audit, the HSAB will
review the Self-Neglect guide for practitioners; this work will consider in
the main the further development of a resources pack which forms part
of the guidance. This will be led by the policy and procedure sub-group
during 19-20.
• The HSAB supervision guide has been agreed and will be formally
disseminated across the partnership during 19-20.
• The Safeguarding Adult Policy will be reviewed and updated as necessary
throughout the year
• The group will look at the some particular elements of the policy for
significant review; these include, medication errors, pressure ulcer
guidance and will contribute to any joint initiatives on documentation
relating to serious and violent crime

Agenda Pack Page 83

• We will commit to the early identification of vulnerable people and types of
vulnerabilities of those at risk of involvement in serious violence through a
consistent assessment process.
• People identified through a consistent assessment process will receive
multi-agency support at the appropriate level.
• All staff in contact with vulnerable adults will be made aware of the impact
of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s) and be able to deliver appropriate
interventions.
• Develop a joint learning package on exploitation with the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and the Domestic Abuse Board.

Develop Service User Involvement
The HSAB will continue to use wherever possible established service user
groups to gain feedback on any new policies / initiatives. The Board is keen
to hear the voice of the service user and will be considering the possibility of
having lay members on the public engagement group to provide added value
to the work of the partnership.
The Board will also seek service user feedback via the Co-Production Board
whenever possible.

27

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Subgroup Reports

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Achievements
• Successfully publicised world elder abuse day
• Effectively delivered the public engagement strategy
• Increased the number of referrals as a result of effective dissemination of
updated awareness raising materials
• Theme based awareness campaigns promoted around self-neglect and
domestic abuse, finical abuse and scamming
• Dissemination of awareness raising materials to targeted vulnerable groups
within areas of concern and high priority

Agenda Pack Page 84

HSAB continues to delegate responsibility for developing the responses to
its Business Plans to its subgroups which report back at Board meetings.
HSAB has five subgroups; the Public Engagement Sub-group, the
Performance Subgroup, the Learning and Development Subgroup, the
Policy & Procedure sub group and the SARs sub group.
The Public Engagement Subgroup
The Public Engagement sub-group met four times in 2018/19 as a whole
group. In addition there were smaller task and finish groups that met
throughout the year to undertake specific pieces of work in relation to
the key priorities.

Challenges
• Maintaining engagement and proactive membership within the group, due
to sub group members additional work loads.
• Achieving effective outcomes from campaign planning and having motivated
participation within the group

Membership
East and North Herts and Herts Valleys CCGs (Chair)
Hertfordshire County Council (Communications)
West Herts Hospital NHS Trust
Hertsmere District Council (representing all districts)
Hertfordshire Urgent Care NHS Trust
Health Watch Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council (Adults Safeguarding)
POhWER
Hertfordshire Care Providers Association
Hertfordshire Constabulary
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Care Services)

28

Objectives 2019/2020
• Development of patient/ person focused stories to incorporate making
safeguarding personal within awareness raising materials and campaigns
• Change the format of the sub group. This will involve a permanent sub
group strategic membership whilst inviting other individuals into task and
finish groups in order to support focused campaigns that will be planned at
the strategic group. This group will meet 3 times throughout the year. This
will include world elder abuse day, domestic abuse and Honour
based violence.
• Continue to target specific geographical areas to raise awareness
• Continue to promote safeguarding awareness to vulnerable groups
including producing easy read materials for patients/ groups with
learning disabilities.
Bonita Sparkes
Chair of the Public Engagement Sub group
April 2019
Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

The Learning and Development Subgroup

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Achievements
• The HSAB hosted a Safeguarding Adults conference in
June 2018 to coincide with World Elder Abuse Awareness Day
with a focus on Making Safeguarding Personal.
• Delivery of a multidisciplinary training programme, including some training
in conjunction with the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
• Agreement of standard levels of knowledge about Safeguarding Adults for
use by partners in development of their training programmes (Workforce
Development)
• An On Line training offer (via The Virtual College)
• Delivery of Safeguarding Forums on Coercion and Control and Working with
the Gypsy, Traveller and Roma Communities
• Joining with HSCP and DA partners to form a new approach and sub-group
to deliver on learning objectives going forward

The Learning and Development sub-group has been very active during
2018/19, meeting four times. There were various smaller task and finish
groups that met throughout the year to undertake specific pieces of work in
relation to the key priorities.

Agenda Pack Page 85

Membership
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (Chair)
Hertfordshire Constabulary
East and North Herts NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
East and North Herts and Herts Valleys CCG (Vice Chair)
Hertfordshire Care Providers Association
West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council (Learning and Development Team)
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Disability Team)
Hertsmere District Council (representing all districts)
National Probation Service
Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service

Priorities for 2019 -2020
• Delivery of agreed face to face learning
• Development of adults focused training opportunities – Self-Neglect,
Hoarding, Hate Crime and Mental Capacity
• Working with HSCP to deliver learning hubs with front line practitioners
• Deliver Annual Conference on Learning Disabilities
• Deliver a safeguarding conference for Housing Staff
• Project on delivering and embedding learning from reviews across the
three partnerships.

29

Jane Trundle
Chair of the Learning and Development Sub group
April 2019
Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Essential
Information

Appendix

• Hertfordshire have worked closely with our mental health
Partners HPFT and ensured their systems are both care act
complaint and are able to meet statutory reporting requirements
for the safeguarding adult’s collection.

The Performance Subgroup

Agenda Pack Page 86

The Performance sub-group met four times in 2018/19 as a whole group.
There were various smaller task and finish groups that met throughout the
year to undertake specific pieces of work in relation to the key priorities.

Challenges
• Differences in reporting systems between ACS and HPFT have made it
difficult to get a consistent picture across all care groups. This is being
addressed and HPFT will be mirroring ACS reporting.
• HCC continue to work with HPFT to enable more in depth analysis of
Hertfordshire’s Safeguarding data in addition to the statutory requirements.
• Understanding the National picture - Research In Practice and ADASS are
working on ensuring a consistent approach to recording.
• Data from partners other than Hertfordshire County Council still needs to
be gathered and incorporated

Membership
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Safeguarding) Chair
Hertfordshire Urgent Care NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council (Community Safety Unit) Vice Chair
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire Constabulary
POhWER
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

Priorities for 2019 -2020:
• To fully embed the electronic dashboard and ensure effective analysis of the
collected data to inform HSAB’s direction of travel.
• To support any deep dives and audits identified for Safeguarding Adults

Achievements
• A safeguarding performance report was produced for every HSAB meeting.
• An agreed data set is now in place and any trends or anomalies that the
group identified were reported to the HSAB.
• The sub group has provided Safeguarding adult’s board with key highlights
and detailed analysis to aide in decision making throughout the year.
• The work of the sub group has allowed Safeguarding Adults board,
HCC and its key strategic partners to gain a greater understanding of
Hertfordshire’s performance versus its national comparators. It has also
supported and driven focused analysis work with the Community Safety
Unit to gain a greater understating of Hertfordshire’s socio economic and
demographic challenges around safeguarding Adults.
30

Keith Dodd
Chair of the Performance Sub group
April 2019
Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

The Policy & Procedure Subgroup

The following actions have been achieved:-

The Policy and Procedure sub-group met four times in 2018/19 as a whole
group. There were various smaller task and finish groups that met throughout
the year to undertake specific pieces of work in relation to the key priorities.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Agenda Pack Page 87

Membership
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust (Chair)
West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust
East and North Herts NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Care Providers Association
Hertfordshire County Council (Learning and Development Team)
Hertfordshire County Council (Adults Safeguarding)
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
East and North Herts and Herts Valleys CCGs
Change, Grow, Live (CGL)
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Care Services)
Hertfordshire County Council (Community Protection)

Appendix

Essential
Information

The launch of the HSAB Self-Neglect and Hoarding Guidance
The production of complex case guidance
The development of a Board Escalation Guide
A review of SAR Guidance for practitioners
The delivery of a Supervision Guide for organisations across Hertfordshire
A review of key appendices in the Safeguarding Procedures – Domestic
Abuse and MAPPA

Challenges
• Identifying appropriate persons and achieving engagement with district
councils and housing providers to agree a standard guidance document that
can be used across all partners.
Priorities for 2018 -2020:
• The review of the Board’s Information Sharing Agreement
• A Full Review of the Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedure documentation

Achievements
The main focus of this group over the last year was to implement the
recommendations from two Serious Adult Reviews. The key areas were
in relation to the management and co-ordination of complex cases, risk
assessment, risk management and escalation and working with self-neglect
and hoarding. In addition the group has also produced some additional
documents for the partnership.

31

Kate Linhart
Chair of Policy & Procedure Sub Group
April 2019
Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Safeguarding Adults Reviews Subgroup

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Achievements
• There have been 8 referrals for SAR’s during this year. To date there have
been a total of 26 referrals; since the Act came in 2015. Only four of these
have become a SAR, and three (which did not meet the criteria) became
partnership reviews.
• Develop of an easy read guide for practitioners on what constitutes a
Serious Adult Review
• Review of leaflet for families
• Development of a triage system and governance structure within the
Business Unit to assess SAR’s

Agenda Pack Page 88

The Safeguarding Adult Review sub-group met eight times in 2018/19 as a
whole group. There were various smaller task and finish groups that met
throughout the year to undertake specific pieces of work in relation to the
key priorities. The group’s objectives are to ensure that recommendations
from SARs both locally and nationally are effectively followed through in
Hertfordshire and that actions are completed and learning is embedded
into practice.
The group also seeks assurance that all agencies and practices understand
their role and the expectations of participation in Safeguarding Adults Reviews
under the Care Act and support the involvement of their staff at all levels in
the Adult Case Review process.

Challenges
• Although there is good representation and attendance from agencies at the
SAR Sub Group there is limited engagement and commitment from some of
the attendees.

Membership
East and North Herts and Herts Valleys CCGs (Chair)
Hertfordshire Constabulary (Vice-Chair)
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
West Herts Hospital NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Safeguarding)
Hertfordshire County Council (Legal Services)
National Probation Service
Hertfordshire County Council (Children’s Services)
Hertfordshire County Council (Adult Care Services)

Priorities for 2019 -2020:
• To review governance arrangements for SAR sub-group
• Implement systems for quality markers for SARs
• Develop a toolkit for practitioners involved in SARs
• In conjunction with the Learning and Development sub-group to produce
key learnings from SARs (local and national) which can be delivered across
the partnership using various mediums

32

Tracey Cooper
Chair Safeguarding Adults Review Sub Group
April 2019
Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Glossary and acronyms

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

CMHTs (community mental health teams) are made up of professionals and
support staff that provide specialist mental health services to people within
their community.

Abuse includes physical, sexual, emotional, psychological, financial, material,
neglect, acts of omission, discriminatory and organisational abuse.

Consent is the voluntary and continuing permission of the person to the
intervention based on an adequate knowledge of the purpose, nature, likely
effects and risks of that intervention, including the likelihood of its success
and any alternatives to it.

Agenda Pack Page 89

Adult at risk means adults who need community care services because of
mental or other disability, age or illness and who are, or may be unable, to
take care of themselves against significant harm or exploitation. The term
replaces ‘vulnerable adult’.

CPS (Crown Prosecution Service) is the government department responsible
for prosecuting criminal cases investigated by the police in England and Wales.

Advocacy is taking action to help people say what they want, secure their
rights, represent their interests and obtain services they need.

CQC (Care Quality Commission) is responsible for the registration and
regulation of health and social care in England.

Concern is a worry that an adult at risk is or may be a victim of abuse or
neglect. A concern may be a result of a disclosure, an incident, or other signs
or indicators.

DAISU (Domestic Abuse, Investigation and Safeguarding Unit) – Herts Police
Team investigation allegations of domestic abuse where there is an intimate
relationship.

Capacity is the ability to make a decision about a particular matter at the time
the decision needs to be made.

DoLS (Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards) are measures to protect people who
lack the mental capacity to make certain decisions for themselves. They came
into effect in April 2009 using the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005,
and apply to people in care homes or hospitals where they may be deprived of
their liberty.

Care setting/services includes health care, nursing care, social care,
domiciliary care, social activities, support setting, emotional support, housing
support, emergency housing, befriending and advice services and services
provided in someone’s own home.

DSL (Designated Safeguarding Lead)

Carer refers to unpaid carers, for example, relatives or friends of the adult
at risk. Paid workers, including personal assistants, whose job title may be
‘carer’, are called ‘staff’.

Enquiry establishes whether any action needs to be taken to stop or prevent
abuse or neglect, and if so, what action and by whom the action is taken.

33

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

IMCA (Independent Mental Capacity Advocate) established by the Mental
Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 IMCAs are mainly instructed to represent people
where there is no one independent of services, such as family or friend,
who is able to represent them. IMCAs are a legal safeguard for people
who lack the mental capacity to make specific important decisions about
where they live, serious medical treatment options, care reviews or adult
safeguarding concerns.

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Public interest – a decision about what is in the public interest needs to be
made by balancing the rights of the individual to privacy with the rights of
others to protection.

Agenda Pack Page 90

Safeguarding adults is used to describe all work to help adults at risk stay
safe from significant harm. It replaces the term ‘adult protection’.
Safeguarding adults review is undertaken by Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Adult Board when a serious case of adult abuse takes place. This is a
requirement of the Care Act 2014 and the aim is that agencies and individuals
to learn lessons to improve the way in which they work.

MAPPA (Multi-agency Public Protection Arrangements) are statutory
arrangements for managing sexual and violent offenders.
MARAC (Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference) is the multi-agency
forum of organisations that manage high-risk cases of domestic abuse,
stalking and ‘honour’- based violence.

SI (Serious Incident) is a term used by the National Patient Safety
Agency (NPSA) in its national framework for serious incidents in the NHS
requiring investigation. It is defined as an incident that occurred in relation to
NHS-funded services resulting in serious harm or unexpected or avoidable
death of one or more patients, staff, visitors or members of the public.

Making Safeguarding Personal is about person centred and outcome
focussed practice. It is how professionals are assured by adults at risk that
they have made a difference to people by taking action on what matters to
people, and is personal and meaningful to them.

Significant harm is not only ill treatment (including sexual abuse and forms
of ill treatment which are not physical), but also the impairment of, or an
avoidable deterioration in, physical or mental health, and the impairment of
physical, intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural development.

Mental Capacity refers to whether someone has the mental capacity to make
a decision or not.
Modern Slavery encompasses slavery, human trafficking, forced labour and
domestic servitude. Traffickers and slave masters use whatever means they
have at their disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals into a life of
abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment.

Wilful neglect is an intentional or deliberate omission or failure to carry out
an act of care by someone who has care of a person who lacks capacity to
care for themselves.

Person alleged to cause the harm is the person or adult who is alleged to
have caused the abuse or harm.

34

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Appendix 1 – Board meeting attendance for April 2018: March 2019
Agency

Representative

June-18

Sept-18

Dec-18

Mar-19

HCC
East & North Herts CCG
Herts Valley CCG
Hertfordshire Constabulary

Independent Chair
Operations Director
Director of Nursing and Quality
Director of Nursing and Quality
Assistant Chief Constable
Executive Director of Quality & Safety,
Director for Infection Prevention and Control
Head of Social Work & Safeguarding
CEO
Assistant Director, Commissioning
CEO
Head of Hertfordshire LDU
Assistant Director
Assistant Director
Chief Nurse & Director of Infection/Prevention Control
Director of Nursing & Patient Experience
Deputy Director, Quality Governance, Deputy Chief Nurse
Head of Child Protection
Head of Adult Safeguarding; Sub group Chair
Head of Learning & Development; Sub group Chair
Detective Chief Inspector; Sub group Chair
Head of Adult Safeguarding; Sub group Chair
Head of Service
Head of Service

YES
YES
Represented
YES
Represented

YES
YES
YES
YES
YES

YES
YES
YES
YES
Represented

YES
YES
YES
YES
Represented

Represented

Represented

Represented

YES

YES
Apologies
YES
Represented
Apologies
Apologies
Represented
Represented
Represented
Apologies
Represented
YES
Apologies
YES
YES
YES
YES

Represented
Apologies
Represented
YES
Apologies
Apologies
Apologies
Represented
YES
Represented
Represented
YES
Apologies
YES
Represented
YES
Apologies

YES
YES
Apologies
Represented
Represented
Apologies
Apologies
Represented
Represented
Apologies
Represented
YES
YES
Apologies
YES
Apologies
YES

Represented
Apologies
Apologies
Represented
YES
YES
Represented
YES
YES
YES
YES
YES
Apologies
YES
YES
YES
Apologies

HPFT

Agenda Pack Page 91

HPFT
HCPA
HCC
Hertsmere Borough Council
National Probation Service
Public Health
Community Protection
West Hertfordshire Hospital Trust
East & North Herts NHS Trust
HCT
Children's Services
HCC
HCT
Hertfordshire Constabulary
East & North Herts & Herts Valley CCGs
East of England Ambulance Service
MH Prison The Mount

35

Next

Back

Appendix 2 – Learning Hub Feedback: You Said, We Did
Learning Hub: Gangs and Knife Crime
“You Said, We Did” Feedback July 2019
In March 2019, front line practitioners fed back their thoughts and ideas about how multi-agency
partners could work better together to keep children and vulnerable adults safe from gangs and knife
crime in Hertfordshire. This is what happened with your feedback:

Agenda Pack Page 92

You said….

We did….

Young people and vulnerable adults
should be supported and
encouraged to report issues
anonymously.

We identified www.fearless.org as an effective
anonymous reporting mechanism, aimed at
young people. A county wide launch of
Fearless.org will take place soon.

There is an effective partnership
approach to safeguarding children
and lots of good services, but
clearer pathways and information
about available services is needed

Work is underway to ensure there is an effective
single online portal to services in the county, and
this will capture all diversionary and activities and
gangs related support services. See the current
Families First portal here

There is a need to ensure adequate
funding for timely interventions
and services for the different level
of risk, as well as diversionary
activities.

We are looking at the new funding streams
coming on line from government and local
agencies will be working together on bids to
increase the chances of success.

It is important to prevent young
people from becoming involved
through education and raising
awareness at an early age.

An education toolkit is being developed and will
be promoted to all schools in Hertfordshire. The
Police Gangs and School team are also
supporting schools.

It can be challenging to engage
parents and young people in
interventions, particularly at the
stage when they are voluntary.

This is often difficult, and we encourage all
agencies to adopt a holistic approach to family
issues, in order to secure engagement as far as
possible.

Parenting is a key contributing
factor, with improving parental
awareness an important area to look
at.

Families First, the Gangs and Schools team and
Targeted Youth Support teams are already
seeking to do more work directly with parents.

Awareness and approach to
addressing cuckooing and its impact
on vulnerable adults is variable
across the county.

Police and community safety managers are
working to ensure the approach to cuckooing
becomes more consistent, with support from the
Safeguarding Adults Board.

Young people not attending school
are very vulnerable to becoming
involved in gangs and knife crime.

Active work to address this is ongoing with
integration officers, Targeted Youth Support and
the Gangs and Schools team. We are also
addressing the Timpson Review of School
Exclusions.

36

Next

Back

those aged 65+”

Appendix 3 – Performance Infographic
Hertfordshire Adult Care Services – 2018-19 Safeguarding Adults
Every Year Hertfordshire County Councils Adult
Care Services submits the Safeguarding Adults
Collection (SAC). The Collection monitors new
safeguarding activity for the financial year. It
references “Concerns” & “Enquiries” Started and
Ended in the year. A Safeguarding Concern is “A
sign of suspected abuse or neglect that is reported
to the local authority or identified by the local
authority”. An Enquiry is “The action taken or
instigated by the local authority in response to a
concern that abuse or neglect may be taking place.
An enquiry could range from a conversation with
the adult to a more formal multi-agency plan or
course of action”

Performance
& Statistics

+ 9.4% compared to 2017-18

9504

Involved 7154 Clients

Safeguarding
Concerns Started

59% of concerns

This equates to a rate of 1044
concerns per 100k population

involved a female adult,
with 41% involving a
male adult.

42% of concerns

Type of Abuse
Source of
Abuse

Location of
Abuse

Service
Provider 33%

Own Home 46%

Agenda Pack Page 93

Residential/
Nursing Home 35%

Conversion
Rate
59%
(2017-18 59%)

Known to
Person 55%

Hospital 9%

Unknown to
Person 12%

Community 6%

5654

progressed to a
Safeguarding Enquiry

Modern Slavery
Sexual Exploitation
Discrimination
Sexual Abuse
Domestic Abuse
Self Neglect
Organisational Abuse
Financial & Material
Psychological
Physical
Neglect & Omission

18-19
0.1%
0.5%
1%
5%
10%
10%
13%
14%
17%
31%
60%

involved an adult aged
18-64, with 58%
involving an adult aged
65+.

17-18
0.1%
0.3%
1%
6%
10%
8%
10%
16%
18%
31%
55%

Clients with a PSR of Physical
Support (42%) accounted for
the majority of concerns,
followed by mental health
support (20%) and learning
disability support (17%)

76% of clients had only 1

+ 9.6% compared to 2017-18

Other 4%

referral recorded within 201819. 22% had between 2 and 4
referrals, whilst 1.3% had
more than 5 referrals
recorded within 2018-19.*

Involved 4499 Clients

Making Safeguarding Personal*
84% of clients involved in a

safeguarding adults enquiry were asked
what their desired outcomes were, with
16% either not asked or not recorded.

Source of Referral*
Social Care Staff

Health Staff/GP

36%

33%

Family, Friend or
Neighbour

Other

24%

7%
4%
19%

76%
Fully Achieved

Of those who
expressed
outcomes, 96%
had their
outcomes fully or
partially achieved.

Partially Achieved

In 33% of safeguarding
episodes, the adult at
risk was lacking capacity
to make decisions
relating to the enquiry.

Safeguarding Outcome*
Of those enquiries with an outcome recorded, 47% were
substantiated or partially substantiated.
47%

Concern Substantiated/Partially Substantiated

25%

Concern Unsubstantiated

Not Achieved

Stevenage district had the
highest number of concerns
recorded at 121 per 10k
population. This was followed
by Watford at 118 and
Hertsmere at 105.

Enquiry ceased at individuals request
Concern Inconclusive

37

16%
12%

Next

Back

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-2019
Foreword from
the Independent
Chair

Introduction

The Purpose of
the Annual Report

Achievements

What’s next?

Sub-group
Reports

Glossary and
Acronyms

Appendix

Essential
Information

Essential Information
Annual Report complied in July 2019 on behalf of the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adult Board by:

Agenda Pack Page 94

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board

Mary Moroney
Business Manager Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board
Room 152
County Hall – Postal Point CHO 116
Pegs Lane
Hertford
SG13 8DQ
Tel: 01992 588757
Approved by the Strategic Board in 25/09/2019
Available on HSAB web site: 26/09/2019

38

Next

Back

Agenda Item No.

7
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2019 AT 10.00AM
TACKLING LONELINESS IN HERTFORDSHIRE ACTION PLAN
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services
Author: Chantal Lommel - Head of Service - Hertfordshire Adult & Family
Learning Service (HAFLS) (Tel: 01992 588719)
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

This report summarises the progress made in developing a
Hertfordshire strategic response to tackling loneliness, since the last
progress report was made to the Board on 20 June 2019. The strategy
group has considered the Board’s feedback, which was incorporated
into their workplan over the summer.

1.2

The report:




Outlines the action plan (attached as Appendix A) in more detail,
based on the four key objectives agreed by the Board.
Seeks the Board’s agreement to the plan.
Requests the Board’s comments on the role its constituent
organisations can play in driving this agenda forward.

2.

Summary

2.1

In 2018 the Health and Wellbeing Board identified tackling loneliness
as one of its key areas of focus, alongside Housing, Prevention and
Mental Health. To further its understanding of the issues, the Board
invited a representative from The Campaign to End Loneliness to a
development session when the key research findings around the
agenda and those groups most at risk of experiencing
loneliness were outlined. At the same meeting an update was provided
on the successful activity already underway, including the Connecting

Agenda Pack Page 95

1

Lives pilot campaign being rolled out and across the county and the
multi-agency work in progress to develop the Hertfordshire-wide
strategic action plan to this.
2.2

At the Health and Wellbeing Board’s last public meeting on 20 June
2019, the Board considered a progress report on the action plan. The
Board provided feedback and made the following requests for officer
actions:





Officers to consider approaching religious groups, district
councils and further and higher education establishments, to
identify and broaden the range of people who could be offered
access to services.
Further approaches be made to Hertfordshire Constabulary to
explore opportunities to implement initiatives through their
service.
The strategic action plan be brought back to the Board in
October for approval.

2.3

The agencies outlined in paragraph 2.2 above have been approached
by officers, requesting a single point of contact so that access to
services can be publicised to their wider stakeholders. Additionally, a
charity focusing on ethnic minorities has been approached to join the
steering group.

2.4

In consultation with residents and wider stakeholders, the steering
group has developed some key objectives including:
Making every contact count: a co-ordinated information campaign to
raise awareness, sharing best practice and training.
Local approaches to local needs: capturing the learning from existing
projects and developing support and guidance for new projects, based
on the evidence of what works, and targeting activity at those most in
need.
First steps to reaching out: targeting work in a co-ordinated way for
those groups most at risk.
Embedding tackling loneliness in wider strategies: linking into
existing strategies and influencing future procurement of new services







2.5

Sub groups have now been set up for each of the key actions identified
under these four key objectives and are outlined in more detail in the
attached appendix. A lead officer and organisation have been identified
for these sub groups, along with a reporting date for each action. The
sub groups are made up of the membership of the steering group.
These action areas all require further development and focus groups
and engagement activity are planned for October and November 2019
and beyond.

Agenda Pack Page 96

2

2.6

The Chair of the steering group Chantal Lommel has contacted Norfolk
County Council and Buckinghamshire County Council to learn from
their experience and share Hertfordshire’s, with a view to setting up a
cross-county forum. Essex also been approached to join, and other
neighbouring authorities may follow suit. The forum will meet once a
quarter and hopes to talk regularly in between. As well as sharing best
practice, this will provide a valuable opportunity to apply for funding on
a cross-county and regional basis.

2.7

Contact has also been made with the Department of Digital, Culture,
Media and Sport and The Big Lottery with the view to apply for funding
in the future. The Department of DCMS has already shown some
interest in the cross-county partnership that is being set up.

2.8

Health and Wellbeing partners now need to consider what commitment
their organisations can make to the delivery of the action plan. There
will be a specific need for communications expertise and resource as
well as a senior commitment from all partner organisation to consider
how the action plan and will be reflected and adopted within their own
organisation’s strategic activity.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:



Agree to the action plan which has been developed in accordance with
the Board’s recommendations made on 20 June 2019.
Comment on the role its constituent organisations can play in driving
this agenda forward.

Agenda Pack Page 97

3

Report signed off by

Iain MacBeath

Sponsoring HWB Member/s

The Health and Wellbeing Board has
identified tackling loneliness as a priority.

Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report

All 4 life stages: Starting Well, Developing
Well, Living and Working Well, Ageing
Well.

Needs assessment
Tackling loneliness has been identified as a strategic priority by the Health and
Wellbeing Board. The action plan will be informed by local public survey and
engagement.
Consultation/public involvement An open engagement activity with the public has
already taken place on 14 May 2019; further engagement activity is planned for
October and November 2019.
Equality and diversity implications
An equalities impact assessment will be carried out when developing the action plan.
Acronyms or terms used
STP

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

Agenda Pack Page 98

4

Agenda Pack Page 99

Tackling Loneliness in
Hertfordshire
ITEM 7 APPENDIX A
Draft Action Plan 2020 - 2022

What do we mean by
"loneliness"?
Agenda Pack Page 100

Although loneliness can be considered a normal part of life experience, it can
have a significant effect on our health and wellbeing if it continues for a long
time. Loneliness can be defined as a subjective, unwelcome feeling of lack or
loss of companionship. It happens when we have a mismatch between the
quantity and quality of social relationships that we have, and those that we
want.
The Campaign to End Loneliness makes a distinction between social and
emotional loneliness:
• Emotional loneliness is felt when we miss the companionship of one
particular person; often a spouse, sibling or best friend.
• Social loneliness is experienced when we lack a wider social network or
group of friends.
Research shows that lacking social connections is as damaging to our health
as smoking 15 cigarettes a day. Social networks and friendships not only
have an impact on reducing the risk of developing certain diseases, but they
also help people to recover when they do fall ill and increase their resilience
to cope with stressful periods in their lives.
1

Agenda Pack Page 101

'You can be surrounded by lots of family and
friends who just see the smile you put on your
face to stop the real lonely feelings underneath.
It is easier to smile than feel a whinge or
burden’
Instagram comment during Loneliness Awareness Week 2019

2

It started with a little walk...

Julie's Story
Agenda Pack Page 102

Julie and Bob and their five children ages 6 months
to 16 were socially isolated with no network of
support. They were not using any local services and
did not know how to access them.
Julie’s mood was low and at times she was unable to
cope with her diabetes, which on more than one
occasion hospitalised her. To make matters worse,
Bob was convicted of a petty crime and sent to
prison, leaving Julie alone to cope. Julie felt guilty,
disempowered and unable to change her
circumstances.
Charlotte, a home-visiting volunteer from the charity
Homestart spent time building a relationship of trust
with the family and engaging the children in play.

Charlotte made a map that listed all the services
available in her area for Julie and discussed them
all with her. Initially they went for little walks and
then started to visit some of the services including
the swimming pool, library and some toddler
groups. After six months Julie has made friends
and feels able to invite them to her home to meet
up. The younger children are thriving at nursery
and school and have made friends. Bob has
returned home and they have days out as a family.
Julie feels part of her local community. Julie said of
Charlotte: “Without her I would still be stuck where
I was. I am happy and I have made friends. She
helped me when I didn’t know how…she motivated
me.”

3

Who is lonely?
Anyone can experience loneliness and there is no
single reason for being lonely. As the MP Jo Cox
said,

“loneliness doesn’t discriminate.”

Agenda Pack Page 103

Certain life events can trigger loneliness such as
leaving care, being bullied, starting at a new
school or college, losing a job, the death of a
loved one, retirement, becoming homeless,
becoming a victim of crime, living with a disability,
becoming a parent.
Research shows that it is more common to
experience loneliness later in life, but it can occur
at all stages in our lives and so this plan takes a
life course approach and applies to children and
young people as well as adults.

4

What is the national
context?
Agenda Pack Page 104

The government published “A connected society”, its first strategy to tackle
loneliness, in October 2018. It has three overarching goals. The first is a
commitment to improve the evidence base to better understand what causes
loneliness, its impacts and what works to tackle it. The second goal looks at
how tackling loneliness can be embedded across wider policy making. The
final goal is to build a national conversation about loneliness to raise
awareness about its impacts and to tackle stigma.
When the organisation What Works Wellbeing reviewed the research on what
works in projects that help reduce loneliness, it found that the vidence
suggests three key mechanisms are important:
·
·
·

building connections between people,
reducing the stigma around loneliness
tailoring approaches to individuals or groups.

According to the Campaign to End Loneliness, half a million older
people go at least five or six days a week without seeing or speaking to
anyone at all and over 9 million people in the UK across all adult ages – more
than the population of London – are either always or often lonely.
A survey by Action for Children found that 43% of 17 – 25-year-olds who used
their service had experienced problems with loneliness, and that less than half
of this same group said they felt loved. The survey also found that 24% of
parents surveyed said they were always or often lonely.
5

Agenda Pack Page 105

"It’s not just about getting out and about – it’s
about getting the community in!’’

Stakeholder engagement feedback May 2019

6

What is the local approach in
Hertfordshire?

Agenda Pack Page 106

In 2018 Hertfordshire the Health and Wellbeing Board identified tackling
loneliness as one of its key areas of focus because of its damage to people’s
health and wellbeing and agreed that a preventative strategic approach is needed
across the system.
It acknowledged that no single organisation or community can tackle loneliness,
but they all have the potential to impact on loneliness even if that is not their
primary aim.
Social Prescribing is a way of referring people to a range of local, non-clinical
services such as volunteering arts activities, group learning, gardening,
befriending, cookery, healthy eating advice and a range of sports. It enables
people to take more control over their own health and is widely used across
Hertfordshire. Making the links with of Social Prescribing and other existing
mechanisms to support people to take charge of their own health, such as
Families First Services will be embedded in this action plan.
A “one system” partnership approach between public services, the voluntary and
private sector and local communities needs to be taken to tackle loneliness with a
shared focus on evidence-based outcomes. The board agreed that Hertfordshire
needed an action plan to make it easier for public services and other organisation
to work together to help people to maintain existing relationships and to support
them in making new social connections.

7

Steering Group
A steering group has been set up to lead the development of a
Hertfordshire-wide, multi-agency action plan to tackle loneliness in
Hertfordshire. The group’s membership includes representatives from the
County Council, District councils, NHS,
University of Hertfordshire, Age UK Hertfordshire and Connect
Hertfordshire and is chaired by Chantal Lommel, Head of Service for
Hertfordshire Adult Family learning Service (HAFLS).

Agenda Pack Page 107

As well as considering the national research and the government strategy,
the group has drawn on the outcomes from the 2018 Hertfordshire
voluntary sector conference which focused on connecting lives and
tackling loneliness.
The action plan will be used to influence leaders of other local strategies
to support tackling loneliness as a key priority, improve information about
the prevalence of loneliness and measure the impact of existing and new
interventions.
The steering group values the input of people with lived experience in
developing this action plan and held an engagement event in May with
over 80 stakeholders and members of the public to start to gather views
and evidence. Focus Groups will be held in October and November 2019
with stakeholders to gather feedback on this action plan and how to reach
people who may be feeling lonely.

8

What's in the Action
Plan?
Agenda Pack Page 108

In consultation with wider stakeholders and residents
we have developed four key areas for action which
form the framework of this action plan:

Embedding

tackling loneliness in
wider strategies
linking into existing strategies and
influencing future procurement of
new services.

Make

Every contact count:
a co-ordinated information campaign
to raise awareness, sharing best
practice and training.

First
steps to reaching
out

Local

approaches to local
needs
capturing the learning from existing projects
and developing support and guidance for
new projects based on the evidence of what
works and targeting activity to those most in
need.

targeting work in a co-ordinated way
for those groups most at-risk.

9

Four Key Areas...

Agenda Pack Page 109

There are many examples nationally and
in Hertfordshire of communities coming
together to support each other through
recognising a need and being responsive
to their local priorities....
10

Agenda Pack Page 110
Reach Out North Herts and Stevenage is a hospital-tohome support scheme run by North Herts CVS.
Volunteers provide short-term support for people
discharged from hospital at risk of loneliness or
readmission. They visit clients in their home, to provide
practical or emotional support for people who are either
medically or socially vulnerable to help them recover and
regain their independence.
11

Connecting Lives
& Chatter Tables

Agenda Pack Page 111

This approach was piloted in Letchworth Garden City in
2018 and is now being rolled out across Hertfordshire.
The aim of the pilot campaign was to help people to
connect with others and existing opportunities in their
community to prevent loneliness developing. It was mostly
aimed at older people but was available to anyone.
A “connectors army” of volunteers in local businesses were
recruited to signpost people to activities
going on their area; “Chatter tables” were introduced at
Morrisons cafe; “Pick and Mix” social events covering a
variety of subjects are run regularly at the
Library.

12

Agenda Pack Page 112

The Watford and Three Rivers Trust 3-year project Neighbours
Together was launched in June 2019 with backing from the
Lottery Community Fund. It aims to strengthen networks in local
communities to tackle loneliness and isolation in older people.
This will lead to identifying, mapping and promoting a range of
social activities and events so that older people are socially
connected and better able to manage their health and wellbeing.
Focusing on 4 pilot wards, the team will first build a picture of
what each community’s assets are. Volunteer Neighbourhood
Connectors and Neighbourhood Champions who know their patch
are a point of contact for professionals working with older people.
They will encourage and support older people to attend clubs and
activities by finding out what local people want to do, support the
development of new clubs, events and activities.
A local What’s On guide lists local activities and an interactive
map is being developed which maps all the community buildings
as well as the clubs, activities and groups for older residents in
the local area.
There will be seven maps in total, embedded into a website for
each of the post code areas in Watford & Three Rivers, which will
be supported by an online searchable database.

13

Objectives - Key Actions

Objective 1: Make Every Contact Count

Agenda Pack Page 113

Key Action

Lead organisation in bold

First reporting date

1.a Develop and implement a communication plan about the Tackling Loneliness
Agenda (to include regular campaigns, events, conferences, sharing good
practice events) with the view to raise awareness about the impact of loneliness
and about local, regional and national services, projects and interventions
available across Hertfordshire.

East and North Herts Clinical
Commissioning Group

April 2020

1.b Review and update existing training or creating new learning modules to ensure
the loneliness agenda is embedded in professional CPD and curriculum.

Hertfordshire County Council
Public Health

Hertfordshire County Council Adult
Care Services
Council for Voluntary Services
July 2020

University of Hertfordshire
East Herts District Council
1.c

Lead on developing an online central source of services, projects/initiatives
related to tackling loneliness and promoting it as the directory of choice in
Hertfordshire.

1.d Advise on the setting up of effective and clear referral mechanisms across
sectors and services for all age groups, to include social carers, housing
associations, HertsHelp, Community Navigators and Link workers, etc.

Hertfordshire County Council
Adult Care Services

July 2020

Connect Herts
Council for Voluntary Services

Age UK Hertfordshire

July 2020

Hertfordshire County Council
Children’s Services
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning
Group

14

Objectives - Key Actions
Objective 2: Local approaches for local needs

Agenda Pack Page 114

Key Action

Lead organisation in bold

First reporting date

2.a With a co-production model in mind, develop, update, maintain and promote a
toolkit of resources and guidance on how to define, set up, promote and evaluate
a project that aims to tackle loneliness.

Herts Connect

July 2020

2.b Provide initial support and mentoring for any organisation or individual wishing to
set up a project to tackle loneliness with the aim to signpost to useful resources
and link new projects and initiatives to existing ones.

Hertfordshire County
Council Adult Care Services

2.c Act as a catalyst to set up and facilitate new or existing networks between existing
services, district councils and other stakeholders at local level to foster
sustainable communities of practice.

Hertfordshire County
Council HAFLS

2.d Select a standardised method of evaluation and promote its use with the view to
demonstrate impact of projects/initiatives and create a baseline for Hertfordshirewide and national evaluation.

Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group

University of Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire County Council
Children Services

September 2020

Hertfordshire County Council
HAFLS
September 2020

East Herts District Council
Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group
July 2020

Hertfordshire County Council
Public Health
University of Hertfordshire
Connect Herts

15

Objectives - Key Actions
Objective 3: First steps to reaching out

Agenda Pack Page 115

Key Action

Lead organisation in bold

First reporting
date

3.a Identify groups considered as ’high risk’ and which, without targeted
intervention, are unlikely to take their first steps and engage with existing or
new initiatives and services.

East and North Herts Clinical
Commissioning Group

April 2020

3.b Research and advise key stakeholders on regional, national and international
evidence of good practice for the agreed ‘at high risk’ groups.

Hertfordshire County Council
Children’s Services

Hertfordshire County Council HAFLS
Hertfordshire County Council Adult
Care Services

September 2020

University of Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire County Council HAFLS
Age UK Hertfordshire

3.c Enhance and extend the model of ’chatter tables’ to a wider range of businesses
and organisations to proactively support individuals least likely to take their first
steps (for example with supermarket chains, mail services, small high street
businesses).

Hertfordshire County Council
Adult Care Services

September 2020

East Herts District Council
Council for Voluntary Services

16

Objectives - Key Actions
Objective 4: Embedding the tackling loneliness agenda in wider strategies

Agenda Pack Page 116

Key Action

Lead organisation shown in bold Target date

4.a Set up a good practice network with colleagues from other counties

Hertfordshire County Council
HAFLS

September 2020

Hertfordshire County Council Adult
Care Services
Council for Voluntary Services
4.b Influence leaders of local strategies within the public, voluntary and private
sector to consider the loneliness agenda and to update relevant protocols to
reflect their commitment to support this agenda as a key priority.

Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group

4.c Produce a guidance, including an impact assessment, to inform the setting up of
future strategies and protocols.

Hertfordshire County Council
HAFLS

January 2021

Hertfordshire County Council Adult
Care Services
Hertfordshire County Council HAFLS
Age UK Hertfordshire
January 2021

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning
Group
Hertfordshire County Council
Children’s Services
4.d Improve data collection and analysis for Hertfordshire residents to identify key
target groups and make annual recommendations on the prevalence of
loneliness and on impact of existing and new interventions.

Hertfordshire County Council
Public Health

September 2020

Hertfordshire County Council HAFLS
Connect Herts

17

Agenda Pack Page 117

18

This page is intentionally left blank

